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DECLARATION OF ANNA M. BARVIR

I, Anna M. Barvir, declare as follows:

1. I am an attorney at the law firm Michel & Associates, P.C., attorneys of
record for Plaintiffs in this action. I am licensed to practice law before the United
States District Court for the Central District of California. I am also admitted to
practice before the courts of the state of California, the Eastern, Southern, and
Northern Districts of California, the D.C., First, Fourth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuit
Courts of Appeals, and the Supreme Court of the United States. I have personal
knowledge of the facts set forth herein and, if called and sworn as a witness, could
and would testify competently thereto.

2. Following the issuance of the Ninth Circuit’s opinion resolving
Defendants’ interlocutory appeal, Plaintiffs’ counsel promptly evaluated the
decision and its implications for the pleadings in this case. They also took time to
“analyz[e] the ruling’s implications and consult[] with gun show vendors to assess
whether and how they might continue operating within the constraints imposed by
the challenged statute, as informed by the panel’s decision.” Pls.” Status Report
(July 16, 2025), ECF No. 71.

3. Plaintiffs also became aware that, in September 2024 (after the Ninth
Circuit issued its decision but before the Supreme Court had ruled on Plaintiffs’
petition for certiorari), the State Defendants had adopted and publicized an expanded
interpretation of the challenged statutes to prohibit firearm and ammunition raffles
and auctions on state-owned property.

4, On October 9, 2025, in preparation for a status conference then
scheduled for October 31, 2025, I met and conferred with Mr. Donald Kilmer, my
co-counsel, and Mr. Charles Sarosy, counsel of record for the State Defendants, to
discuss ways this case could be resolved without further litigation and, if further
litigation was necessary, whether the Parties could agree to stipulate to the filing of a

Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) pending the State Defendants’ review of the
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draft complaint or if Plaintiffs would need to file a motion for leave to amend. Jt.
Status Report at 2 (Oct. 17, 2025), ECF No. 73.

5. In November 2025, counsel for Plaintiffs began to engage with counsel
for the State Defendants regarding whether and how gun shows could be conducted
on state-owned properties in line with the Ninth Circuit’s decision and interpretation
of the challenged statutes. On November 10, 2025, I sent Defendants an email and
letter outlining a business model consistent with Plaintiffs’ understanding of the
Ninth Circuit’s guidance and offered to engage in ADR should the State Defendants
find good basis to negotiate Plaintiffs’ proposal. I also reiterated that, should the
State Defendants find no room to negotiate the terms of the proposal, Plaintiffs
would seek leave to file an SAC, either by way of stipulation or noticed motion.

6. Based on the Ninth Circuit’s opinion and these post-appeal
developments, Plaintiffs prepared a draft SAC to clarify their allegations and to
address factual developments that occurred after the filing of the First Amended
Complaint. On or about November 17, 2025, I emailed Mr. Sarosy and formally
requested consent for leave to amend pursuant to Rule 15. I provided a courtesy
copy of the draft SAC for the State Defendants’ consideration.

7. On or about December 23, 2025, counsel for Defendants responded via
email, declining to agree to the proposed business plan or to stipulate to the filing of
the proposed SAC.

8. As to the proposed SAC, Mr. Sarosy stated his clients’ position that the
proposed pleading continued to assert challenges “that were foreclosed by the Ninth
Circuit’s decision in this case.” Plaintiffs take this to mean that the State Defendants
believe that amendment would be futile. The State Defendants did not, at the time,
suggest that amendment was in bad faith or would result in undue prejudice to the
State Defendants.

9. Plaintiffs disagree that amendment would be futile because the SAC

presents new factual allegations that could not have been considered by the Ninth
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Circuit and expressly incorporates the Ninth Circuit’s analysis. Further, even if
certain claims or allegations might be considered to be in tension with the Ninth
Circuit’s decision on the State Defendants’ preliminary injunction appeal, Plaintiffs’
position is that they must retain those claims and allegations in order to preserve
their arguments for future appeal(s).

10. On January 9, 2026, at the most recent hearing in this case, the Parties
and the Court discussed Plaintiffs’ anticipated motion for leave to amend at length.
The Parties agreed that their efforts to stipulate to the filing of the SAC had been
exhausted and that a motion would be necessary.

11. Plaintiffs seek leave to amend in good faith and not for any dilatory
purpose. Plaintiffs have acted diligently in seeking amendment following the
conclusion of the appeal and before the commencement of discovery.

12.  Asrequired by the Standing Order of this Court, a redline copy of the
proposed SAC, reflecting all the changes Plaintiffs seek to make to the pleading, is
being filed simultaneously herewith as Exhibit A.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States that the
foregoing is true and correct. Executed within the United States on January 16,

2026.

Q‘,M,C,n_ux_._:-—a—__

Anna M. Barvir
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TODD SPITZER, in his ofticial capacity

as District Attorney of Orange County; = | NOTICE OF

32nd DISTRICT AGRICULTURAL UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF
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INTRODUCTION
1.  Plaintiff B & L PRODUCTIONS, INC., d/b/a CROSSROADS OF
THE WEST (“Plaintiff Crossroads”) has operated popular, safe, heavily regulated,

legal, and family-friendly gun shows for more than 50 years, and as a business in

California for over 30 years, including at the Orange County Fair & Event Center
(“the Fairgrounds™).

2. Plaintiff Crossroads produces gun shows throughout the West (in

California, Utah, Arizona, and Nevada) at venues like the Fairgrounds where like-

minded individuals gather to engage in commerce related to, and necessary for, the
lawful and regulated exercise of Second Amendment rights for themselves, their
exhibitors, their patrons, their customers, and the general public. This safe and
regulated marketplace promotes public safety, even for people who do not attend

gun shows beeause-because such highly regulated venues on public land #will tend

to reduce the unregulated transfer of firearms within- the communities where they

do businessOrange-County. Furthermore, in those venues that still permit

consummated sales pursuant to federal and state law, by providing a convenient

forum for Californians to exercise their right to acquire firearms locally, gun shows
at venues like the Fairgrounds will have the tendency to discourage the sale and
importation of firearms from other states with less strict gun laws than California.

3. Alas, the State of California acting through legislators and a governor

openly hostile to Second Amendment activities, including commerce in firearms,

ammunition, and firearm parts, has exercised its power as landowners to exclude

such commerce from state-owned and state-operated venues like the Fairgrounds.

The first iteration of this case before this District Court resulted in a preliminary

injunction issued in favor of the Plaintiffs. B & L Prods., Inc., v. Newsom. 700 F.

Supp. 3d 894 (C.D. Cal. 2023). Siding with the Defendants, the Ninth Circuit

1ssued an opinion vacating that injunction. B&L Prods., Inc. v. Newsom., 104 F.4th

108 (9th Cir. 2024). The Supreme Court denied certiorari on April 28, 2025.
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711. This action seeks declaratory and injunctive relief against Defendants
for violating the United States Constitution. It also seeks damages for lost profits,
lost opportunities, and diminished marketing value, and reimbursement for
reasonable attorney’s fees, costs, and other expenses in bringing this action.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8-12. The Court has original jurisdiction of this civil action under 28 U.S.C.
§ 1331 because the action arises under the Constitution and laws of the United
States, thus raising federal questions. The Court also has jurisdiction under 28
U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3) and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 since this action seeks to redress the
deprivation, under color of the laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, customs and
usages of the State of California and political subdivisions thereof, of rights,
privileges or immunities secured by the United States Constitution and by Acts of
Congress

9:13. Plaintiffs’ claims for declaratory and injunctive relief are authorized by
28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, respectively, and their claim for attorneys’ fees is
authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 1988.

14.  Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) because
the 32nd District Agricultural Association is located within this district and a
substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred
in this district.

JURY DEMAND ALLEGATIONS

10.15.Those Plaintiffs engaged in commerce (as set forth herein) and pre-

contract protected commercial speech contend that they will suffer damages in

excess of twenty dollars ($20.00) based upon the allegations below, and they are

thus entitled to have a jury make all factual determinations, including but not

limited to, whether the state action challenged herein constitutes a “meaningful

constraint” on their business practices and their liberties associated with the

constitutional claims made herein.

7
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PARTIES
[Plaintiffs]

16.  Plaintiff B&L PRODUCTIONS, INC., d/b/a CROSSROADS OF THE
WEST, is a for-profit event promoter operating in several western states.
Crossroads is in the business of promoting and organizing trade shows throughout
the state of California and other western states, including their long-running gun
show events held at the Orange County Fair & Event Center (“the Fairgrounds™)
operated under the d/b/a Crossroads of the West (‘“Plaintiff Crossroads™). Before
the adoption and enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915, Plaintiff Crossroads was the
largest vendor of gun show events in California and at the Fairgrounds. Typically,
thousands of people attend Plaintiff Crossroads’ gun shows on each of the
weekends they are held. Crossroads provides the space for these like-minded people
to assemble. They have successfully produced and operated multiple safe, legal,
and family-friendly gun show events in California and at the Fairgrounds every

year for over 30 years.

17. Subsequent to the Ninth Circuit’s opinion, Plaintiff CROSSROADS

invested time and money into exploring and drafting new rules (i.e., forbidding

consummated sales [communication of an acceptance] for firearms, ammunition,

and gun parts) for the gun shows it hosts at state-owned venues covered by SB 264

and SB 915. Plaintiff submitted those proposed changes to its business plan for

running its gun shows on state-owned land to the Defendants for approval in order

to resolve this matter without further litigation. Furthermore, Plaintiff

CROSSROADS is ready and willing to formalize these new rules to gain admission

to state-owned venues like the Orange County Fair & Event Center. The

Defendants rejected those proposed regulations claiming the proposed business

practices would remain unlawful under the Ninth Circuit’s current interpretation of

the law.

18.  But for Defendants’ current interpretation adeptien-and enforcement of

8
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SB 264 and SB 915, which prevents prospective purchasers from communicating

acceptance offsite (e.g., via online orders or option contracts), Plaintiff

CROSSROADS would immediately resume producing and promoting gun show
events at the Fairgrounds and at other state-owned fairgrounds throughout
California.

19. Plaintiffs CROSSROADS has incurred and will continue to incur more

than $20.00 in damages based on Defendants’ wrongful and unconstitutional

conduct.

20.  Plaintifft GERALD CLARK is a resident of Santa Ana, California, and
he is an NRA certified instructor. Before the implementation of SB 264 and SB
915, he regularly attended Plaintiff Crossroads’ gun show events at the Fairgrounds
to purchase firearms, ammunition, parts for firearms already owned, and materials
to help him with his training and as a gun owner to be more proficient. He has
taught gun safety and training courses for 12 years, and he has taught those courses
at the Crossroads gun show at the Fairgrounds as a Chief Range Safety Officer and
Certified Trainer. During the training courses, he talks to others about their rights,

the importance of membership in the CRPA, and the Second Amendment.
21.  The Ninth Circuit’s current interpretation of SB 264 and SB 9135 still

allows for the consummation of contracts for the otherwise lawful sale of firearms,

ammunition, and “firearm precursor parts” (1.e., communication of the acceptance)

as long as that consummation takes place off of the state-owned property. Though

this interpretation of SB 264 and SB 915 is still burdensome, Plaintiff CLARK

wishes to continue attending gun shows at the Fairgrounds, and he i1s willing to

comply with the promoter’s new rules. But since Defendants’ current interpretation

and enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915 would prevent prospective purchasers from

communicating an acceptance even offsite (e.g., via online orders or option

contracts), Plaintiff CLARK’S right to engage in otherwise lawful “pre-contract”

9
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commerce in Second Amendment artifacts and the commercial speech associated

with such transactions—short of a consummated contract in a public forum—is

being “meaningfully constrained” in violation of the First and Second

Amendments.

banFurthermore, because SB 264 and SB 915-is were intended to make gun shows

less profitable, more costly to administer, and risky for property staff to approve

(1mposing criminal sanctions against property staff), these laws have, in fact,

effectively banned gun shows altogether. Therefore,; these laws also restricts

Plaintiff CLARK’S right to engage in the unique types of political, educational, and

non-gun purchase commercial speech that takes place at the gun show.

+H-23.But for Defendants’ current interpretation adeption-and enforcement of
SB 264 and SB 915, Plaintiff CLARK}ark would continue attending and

participating in the Crossroads gun show events at the Fairgrounds.

24.  Plaintiff ERIC JOHNSON is a resident of Whittier, California, and he
1s a Certified Trainer, Range Safety Expert, retired coach, and Chief Range Safety
Officer. Before the implementation of SB 264 and SB 915, he regularly attended
Plaintiff Crossroads’ gun show events at the Fairgrounds to purchase firearms,
ammunition reloading supplies, ammunition, parts for the firearms he owns,
materials for caring for his firearms, and much more. Plaintiff Jehnsen-JOHNSON
also attended the Crossroads gun show at the Fairgrounds to engage in expressive
activities with like-minded people, including discussions related to firearms,
ammunition, and firearm accessories, the shooting sports, politics, and the Second
Amendment. He regularly sets up and works Plaintiff CRPA’s vendor booths at gun

shows at the Fairgrounds.

25. Though the Ninth Circuit’s current interpretation of SB 264 and SB

10
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915 is still burdensome, Plaintiff JOHNSON wishes to continue attending gun

shows at the Fairgrounds, and he i1s willing to comply with the promoter’s new

rules. But since Defendants’ current interpretation and enforcement of SB 264 and

SB 915 would prevent prospective purchasers from communicating an acceptance

even offsite (e.g., via online orders or option contracts), Plaintiff JOHNSON’S right

to engage in otherwise lawful “pre-contract” commerce in Second Amendment

artifacts and the commercial speech associated with such transactions—short of a

consummated contract in a public forum—is being “meaningfully constrained” in

violation of the First and Second Amendments.

and-has--fact-elfectiveh-banned-them-altovether—italso restriets-Lurthermore.

because SB 264 and SB 915 were intended to make gun shows less profitable, more

costly to administer, and risky for property staff to approve (imposing criminal

sanctions against property staff), these laws haved4nfaet, in fact, effectively banned

oun shows altogether. Therefore, these laws also restrict his-Plaintiff JOHNSON’S

right to engage in the unique types of political, educational, and non-gun purchase
commercial speech that takes place at the gun show.

13-27.But for Defendants’ current interpretation and enforcement of SB 264
and SB 915, Plaintiff JOHNSON would continue attending and participating in the
Crossroads gun show events at the Fairgrounds.

28.  Plaintiff CHAD LITTRELL is a resident of La Habra, California, and
owns Vytamenc 22 Tactical. Before the implementation of SB 264 and SB 915, his
company was a regular vendor at Plaintiff Crossroads’ gun show events at the
Fairgrounds. At these events, he would lawfully sell “uppers,” precursor parts, and

AR-15 rifles and discuss issues regarding firearms, ammunition, and gun safety

with customers of the gun show. Plaintiff LITTREL LittreH also attended the

11
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Crossroads gun show at the Fairgrounds to engage in expressive activities with like-
minded people, including discussions related to firearms, ammunition, and firearm
accessories, the shooting sports, politics, and the Second Amendment. Because of

the essential shutting down of gun shows at the Fairgrounds, Plaintiff LITTRELL

had to close his business.

29.  Though the Ninth Circuit’s current interpretation of SB 264 and SB

915 is still burdensome, Plaintiff LITTRELL wishes to continue attending gun

shows at the Fairgrounds, and he is willing to comply with the promoter’s new

rules. But since Defendants’ current interpretation and enforcement of SB 264 and

SB 915 would prevent prospective purchasers from communicating an acceptance

even offsite (e.g., via online orders or option contracts), Plaintiff LITTRELL’S

right to engage in otherwise lawful “pre-contract” commerce in Second

Amendment artifacts and the commercial speech associated with such transaction—

short of a consummated contract in a public forum—is being “meaningfully

constrained” in violation of the First and Second Amendments.

and-has-t-tact-eHectively-banned-themaltogether—talserestriets 'urthermore,

because SB 264 and SB 915 were intended to make gun shows less profitable, more

costly to administer, and risky for property staff to approve (imposing criminal

sanctions against property staff), these laws have, in fact, effectively banned gun

shows altogether. Therefore, these laws also restrict his-Plaintiff LITTRELL’S right

to engage in the unique types of political, educational, and non-gun purchase
commercial speech that takes place at the gun show.

31. Plaintiff LITTRELL has incurred and will incur more than $20.00 in

damages caused by the Defendants’ wrongful and unconstitutional conduct.

32. But for Defendants’ current interpretation and enforcement of SB 264

12
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and SB 915, Plaintiff LITTRELL would continue attending and participating in the

Crossroads gun show events at the Fairgrounds.

33.  Plaintiff ASIAN PACIFIC AMERICAN GUN OWNERS

ASSOCIATION (“APAGOA”) is a nonprofit organization incorporated under the

laws of Texas and registered with the California Secretary of State to do business in
the state of California. APAGOA is a community of gun owners with an Asian
Pacific American (“APA”) heritage. Its core focus is to promote safe and
responsible gun ownership within the APA community by providing educational
materials and other resources to its members and other interested parties. APAGOA

advocates for firearm safety, education, and community-building initiatives. And it

13
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strives to educate and empower the APA gun owner community so they can use
their firearms safely and responsibly.

34. Furthermore, because SB 264 and SB 915 were intended to make gun

shows less profitable, more costly to administer, and risky for property staff to

approve (imposing criminal sanctions against property staff), these laws have, in

fact, effectively banned gun shows altogether. Therefore, these laws also restrict

APAGOA'’s right to engage in the unique types of political, educational, and non-

oun purchase commercial speech that takes place at the gun show.

35. APAGOA has incurred and will incur lost opportunity costs for

membership and fundraising that exceeds $20.00.
15:36.HAPAGOA brings this action on behalf of its approximately 270

members and supporters who reside in California and, but for the current

interpretation and implementation of SB 264 and SB 915, would attend and

participate in the Crossroads gun show events at the Fairgrounds.

37.  Plaintiff CALIFORNIA RIFLE & PISTOL ASSOCIATION,
INCORPORATED (“CRPA”) is a nonprofit membership organization incorporated
under the laws of California, with headquarters in Fullerton, California. Among its
other activities, CRPA works to preserve and expand constitutional and statutory
rights of gun ownership, including the right to self-defense and the right to keep
and bear arms. CRPA accomplishes this through its educational offerings,
publications, member engagement events, and legislative advocacy and initiatives.
+6——CRPA has individual members and business affiliates that-who attend
gun shows. Before the implementation of SB 264 and SB 915, CRPA and many of
its members were regular vendors at Plaintiff Crossroads’ gun show events at the
Fairgrounds, where they engaged the public in discussions about the organization
and its purposes, the shooting sports, firearms and firearm safety, and the Second

Amendment and other political issues. CRPA and its members also attended gun

shows at the Fairgrounds to sell organization memberships, advertise its events,

14
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distribute its publications, and sell its merchandise, some of which includes

expressly pro-gun messaging. Members-of CRPA-would-attend-to-advertise-events;

: me—-CRPA has also hosted political rallies,
educational seminars, and range safety officer training at gun shows throughout the
state, including those at the Fairgrounds. CRPA members and other gun enthusiasts
attended these political rallies. CRPA has tens of thousands of members and
supporters, many of whom attended the Crossroads gun shows at the Fairgrounds to
engage in expressive activities with like-minded people, including discussions
related to firearms, ammunition, and firearm accessories, the shooting sports,
politics, and the Second Amendment.

38.

39. Though the Ninth Circuit’s current interpretation of SB 264 and SB

915 i1s still burdensome, Plaintiff CRPA’s members and supporters wish to continue

attending gun shows at the Fairgrounds and other state-owned venues and are

willing to comply with the promoter’s new rules. But since Defendants’ current

interpretation and enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915 would prevent prospective

purchasers from communicating an acceptance even offsite (e.g., via online orders

or option contracts), the rights of CRPA’s members and supporters to engage in

otherwise lawful “pre-contract” commerce in Second Amendment artifacts and the

commercial speech associated with such transaction—short of a consummated

contract in a public forum—is being “meaningfully constrained” in violation of the

First and Second Amendments.

40. _ SB-264-and-SB-915direetly-burden-the right of CRPAits-officers;

15
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banned-them-altogether,+t Furthermore, because SB 264 and SB 915 were intended

to make gun shows less profitable, more costly to administer, and risky for property

staff to approve (imposing criminal sanctions against property staff), these laws

have in fact effectively banned gun shows altogether. Therefore, these laws also

restricts CRPA’s right to engage in the unique types of political, educational, and

non-gun purchase commercial speech that takes place at the gun show.

41. Finally. in support of its nonprofit purpose, CRPA hosts fundraising

events and activities, including gun raffles and auctions, throughout California.

These events sometimes take place at state-owned venues. These fundraising

activities might occur at larger gun show events, but CRPA and its chapters also

host their own events including such fundraising efforts.

42. CRPA has incurred and will incur lost opportunity costs for

membership and fundraising that exceeds $20.00.

17.43.CRPA brings this action on behalf of its members and supporters who

reside in California and, but for the current interpretation and implementation of SB

264 and SB 915, CRPA members would attend and participate in the Crossroads

oun show events at the Fairgrounds.

44.  Plaintiff SECOND AMENDMENT LAW CENTER, INC. (“2ALC”),

1s a nonprofit organization, incorporated under the laws of Nevada with
headquarters in Henderson, Nevada, and registered with the California Secretary of
State to do business in the state of California. 2ALC works to advance Second
Amendment jurisprudence across the country while educating the public,
participating in scholarly research, and providing thought-provoking writings and
content to help advance the Second Amendment. 2ALC works to support and
protect Second Amendment rights across the country, and they distribute materials

at gun shows in California to inform the public about their work.

45. Because the-ban-onsales-of firearms-andammunmition-at the

16
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Fairgroundsis-SB 264 and SB 915 were intended to make gun shows less

profitable, more costly to administer, and risky for property staff to approve

(1mposing criminal sanctions against property staff), these laws have, in fact,

effectively banned gun shows altogether. Therefore, these laws also restrict the

rights of 2ALC to share education and training materials with gun owners and those
whothat attend gun show events. In this lawsuit, 2ALC represents its interests as a
gun show attendee and purveyor of educational materials.

46. 2ALC has incurred and will incur lost opportunity costs for

fundraising that exceed $20.00.

18-47.1In this lawsuit, 2ALC represents its interests as a gun show attendee

and purveyor of educational materials. But for Defendants’ current interpretation

and enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915, Plaintiff 2ALC would continue attending

and participating in the Crossroads gun show events at the Fairgrounds and other

state-owned properties in California.

48.  Plaintiff SECOND AMENDMENT FOUNDATION, INC. (“SAF”) is

a non-profit membership organization. It is incorporated under the laws of the state
of Washington and was founded in 1974. SAF has over 700,000 members and
supporters nationwide, including thousands of members in California. The purposes
of SAF include education, research, publishing, and litigation. It is critical to the
success of SAF that its promotional material, publications, and messages about the
“right to keep and bear arms” reach demographic groups that are saturated with gun
owners, gun buyers, and people of the “gun culture.” Gun Shows like the one
threatened by the Defendants’ actions interfere with this effort. SAF is dedicated to
promoting a better understanding about our constitutional heritage to privately own
and possess firearms through educational and legal action programs designed to
better inform the public about gun control issues. SAF has been a pioneer in
innovative defense of the right to keep and bear arms, through its publications and

public education programs like the Gun Rights Policy Conference. Those
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publications and other SAF materials and information are offered at gun show
events. Second Amendment Foundation also expends significant sums of money
sponsoring public interest litigation to defend its own interests to disseminate
information to like-minded individuals, in an individualized setting like a gun
show, but SAF also seeks to defend the interests of its member in lawsuits like this
present effort.

49. Though the Ninth Circuit’s current interpretation of SB 264 and SB

915 i1s still burdensome, Plaintiff SAF’s members and supporters wish to continue

attending gun shows at the Fairgrounds, and they are willing to comply with the

promoter’s new rules. But since Defendants’ current interpretation and enforcement

of SB 264 and SB 915 would prevent prospective purchasers from communicating

an acceptance even offsite (e.g., via online orders or option contracts), Plaintiff

SAF’s members and supporters’ right to engage in otherwise lawful “pre-contract”

commerce in Second Amendment artifacts and the commercial speech associated

with such transaction—short of a consummated contract in a public forum—is

being “meaningfully constrained” in violation of the First and Second

Amendments.

50. Furthermore, because SB 264 and SB 915 were intended to make gun

shows less profitable, more costly to administer, and risky for property staff to

approve (imposing criminal sanctions against property staff), these laws have in

fact effectively banned gun shows altogether. Therefore, these laws also restrict

SAF’s right to engage in the unique types of political, educational, and non-gun

purchase commercial speech that takes place at the gun show.

51. SAF has incurred and will incur lost opportunity costs for membership

and fundraising that exceeds $20.00.

52. SAF brings this action on behalf of its members and supporters who

reside in California and, but for the current interpretation and implementation of SB

264 and SB 915, SAF members would attend and participate in the Crossroads gun
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show events at the Fairgrounds.

53.  Plaintiff THE ROCKY MOUNTAIN ELK FOUNDATION (“RMEF”)

1s a nonprofit public benefit corporation incorporated in Montana with its

headquarters and principal offices and place of business in Missoula, Montana.

RMETF is registered with the California Secretary of State to do business in the state

of California and has registered with the California Attorney General’s office as a

charity and fundraiser. RMEF’s mission is to ensure the future of elk, other

wildlife, their habitat, and our hunting heritage. RMEF has approximately 8.800

members as well as approximately 21 active chapters in the state of California.

RMEF’s members include hunters, guides, outfitters, wildlife enthusiasts, and

conservationists. Many of these members have acquired firearms and through

RMEF opportunity drawings and auctions, with many of these having taken place

on California state-owned property.

54. RMEEF relies on its members and fundraising events, including Big

Game Banquets, to help raise funds for its mission. In California, between 3,900

and 4.300 people attended RMEF Big Game Banquets or other events annually in

2023, 2024 and 2025. The ability to provide opportunity drawings and auctions of

firearms at RMEF events is an important part of RMEF’s fundraising efforts, with

firearms historically being a significant driver of opportunity drawing and auction

revenue for RMEF.

55. In many parts of California, state-owned property provides the best

venue to hold Plaintiffs RMEF’s fundraising events, such as its Big Game

Banquets. Over the past several years, RMEF has hosted between 22 and 32

fundraising events annually in California, with at least 10-11 of these typically held

on state-owned property. Over 50% of RMEF’s fundraising events are expected to

be impacted by Defendants’ ban on firearm raffles, auctions, and possibly drawings

on state-owned property.

56. Plaintiff RMEF has used its funds raised in California and elsewhere to
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support its mission in California and throughout the United States. Since 1988,

RMETF and its partners have completed over 700 conservation and hunting heritage

outreach projects in California with a combined value of more than $91.9 million.

These projects conserved or enhanced over 211,000 acres of habitat and opened or

improved access to thousands of acres of public land.

57. Plaintiff RMEF frequently partners with federal agencies, states, and

private landowners to fund and implement conservation projects, such as prescribed

burns, forest thinning, planting native vegetation, and installing wildlife-friendly

fencing. In addition, RMEF works with private landowners and federal, state, and

local agencies to conserve habitat through conservation easements and fee

purchases. In California, since 1988, RMEF has spent over $4 million on habitat

stewardship which helped enhance over 130.000 acres, RMEF spent over $2.5

million on wildlife management including 185 projects, RMEF spent over $840

thousand on hunting heritage including 291 projects, and RMEF has completed 29

land conservation and access projects valued at over $64 million which conserved

over 79,000 acres and opened or improved access to over 45,000 acres of public

land.

58. But for Defendants’ current interpretation and enforcement of SB 264

and SB 915, Plaintiff RMEF would continue to hold firearm auctions and drawings

on state-owned properties throughout California.
59. Plaintiff CALIFORNIA BOWMAN HUNTERS/STATE ARCHERY
ASSOCIATION (“CBH/SAA”) is a nonprofit organization established in 1964. Its

purpose 1s to promote and defend the causes of both target and hunter archers

throughout the state of California. The CBH/SAA provides those who choose to

hunt and shoot archery with news and information on the many issues facing

hunting and archery today. CBH/SAA promotes the organization of clubs by

providing guidance and structure for tournaments, challenges to legislation, and an

introduction to archery hunting laws as they constantly change in California. State

20

SECONDERST AMENDED COMPLAINT




Case 8:22-cv-01518-JWH-JDE  Document 79-2  Filed 01/16/26 Page 26 of 296 Page

O© &0 39 O »n =~ W NN =

I SN S S S
W N = O

[ S N O e O R S R N S S S S L e e e
0 9 N U A WD, O O NN N B

ID #:2422

archery championships and outreach programs are key to the organization’s goals,

as 1s defending against harmful legislative attacks on the sport of archery.

60. Plaintiff CBH/SAA’s activities require funding from memberships,

donations, and fundraising. The ability to offer raffles and auctions of firearms and

other equipment used by bow hunters is an important part of CBH/SAA’s

fundraising efforts. In many rural areas where many of CBH/SAA’s members

reside, state-owned properties can provide some of the best venues for fundraising

events. If California prohibits CBH/SAA from holding firearm auctions and raffles

as fundraising events in the future, it has the potential to substantially limit the

lawful fundraising that the organization can participate in for its core programs.

61. But for Defendants’ current interpretation and enforcement of SB 264

and SB 915, Plaintiff CBH/SAA would continue to hold firearm raffles and

auctions on state-owned properties throughout California.
[Defendants]
19.62.Defendant GAVIN NEWSOM is the Governor of the State of

California. As Governor, he is vested with “the supreme executive power” of the

state and “shall see that the law is faithfully executed.” Cal. Const. art. 5, §1.

Defendant Newsom has more than an incidental relationship with the interpretation
and enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915. In fact, in the past, Defendant Newsom has
pressured fairgrounds boards in California to ban safe and lawful gun show events
on those properties. And, because he alone is vested with the authority to appoint
and terminate fair board members, Defendant Newsom has a unique ability to
coerce fair boards responsible for managing state fairgrounds to not enter contracts
with gun show promoters for use of these public venues—even if those events
otherwise comply with the law. Defendant Newsom is sued in his official capacity.
20.63.Defendant ROB BONTA is the Attorney General of the State of
California. He is the “chief law officer” of the state and has the duty to ‘see that the

laws of the State are uniformly and adequately enforced.” Cal. Const. art. 5, § 1.
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Additionally, Defendant Bonta has “direct supervision over every district attorney”
within the State. /d. If, at any point a district attorney of the State fails to enforce
adequately “any law of the State,” Defendant Bonta must “prosecute any violations
of the law.” Id. Finally, Defendant Bonta, as Attorney General of the State of
California, “shall assist any district attorney in the discharge” of duties when
“required by the public interest or directed by the Governor. . . .” Id. He is thus
responsible for the interpretation and enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915 and for

prosecuting violations of these laws. Defendant Bonta is sued in his official
capacity.

2+.64.Defendant TODD SPITZER is the District Attorney responsible for
enforcing the law within the county of Orange. Under the California Government
Code, the district attorney must prosecute “all actions for the recovery” of fines and

penalties. Cal. Gov’t Code § 26521. He is thus responsible for the interpretation and

enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915 and for prosecuting violations of these laws.
Defendant Spitzer is sued in his official capacity.

22.65.Defendant KAREN ROSS is the Secretary of the California
Department of Food & Agriculture—the entity responsible for the policy oversight
of the network of California fair venues, which includes the Orange County Fair &
Event Center. Through the Department, Defendant Ross issues guidance for
governance and contracting to all agricultural districts throughout California
(including Defendant District) and requires reporting from the districts on
operational issues. Because of her direct supervision of all fair boards responsible
for managing state fairgrounds, Defendant Ross has the ability to direct fair boards
to not enter contracts with gun show promoters for use of these public venues—even
if those events otherwise comply with the law. The Department maintains an office
of legal counsel for any actions brought against Agricultural Association Districts
in the state. Defendant Ross is sued in her official capacity.

23.66.Defendant 32nd DISTRICT AGRICULTURAL ASSOCIATION
22
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(“District”) is a Governor-appointed Board of Directors that manages the state-
owned Orange County Fair & Event Center public venue. The District is governed
by a nine-member board, each member serving a four-year term. The District Board
of Directors appoints a CEO charged with the daily operations of the facilities but
maintains control over activities not delegated to the CEQ, including contracting
with those seeking to host events, including gun shows, at the Fairgrounds. It is
responsible for ensuring that all state laws governing gun shows at the Fairgrounds,
including SB 264 and SB 9135, are faithfully enforced. Defendant District refused to
consider contracts for the gun show by refusing to place the question of contract
approval on monthly meeting agendas when considering other similar contracts.
24.67.The true names and capacities of Defendants named as DOES 1
through 10, inclusive, are individual, corporate, associate or otherwise, and are
unknown to Plaintiffs. They are, however, believed to be responsible in some way
for Plaintiffs’ loss and damages. Each Doe Defendant is, and at all times mentioned
here was, a partner, agent, principal, co-conspirator, or are otherwise vicariously or
directly responsible for the acts or omissions of the other defendants or themselves.
They are each sued individually and are joined as party defendants. Plaintiffs thus
sue each Doe Defendant under rules 15 and 21 of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure. Plaintiffs are informed and believed that the Doe Defendants are all
California residents. Plaintiffs will amend this complaint to show such true names
and capacities of Doe Defendants when they have been ascertained.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
[The First Amendment Rights to Free Speech, Association, & Assembly]
68. The First Amendment provides, in part, that “Congress shall make no

law . . . abridging the freedom of speech,” U.S. Const. amend. I. It is incorporated
and made applicable to the states by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United
States Constitution and by 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

25-69.Both direct and indirect burdens on First Amendment activities are
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entitled to heightened review by the Court. Braunfeld v. Brown, 366 U.S. 599
(1961).

26-70.Political and ideological speech—including speech concerning

“politics, nationalism, religion, or other matters of opinion”—has long been
considered the core of the First Amendment. W. Va. State Bd. of Educ. v. Barnette,
319 U.S. 624, 642 (1943).

27.71.Public property made available for lease by community groups to
engage in expressive activity must thus be available without regard to the viewpoint
sought to be expressed Cinevision Corp. v. City of Burbank, 745 F.2d 560 (9th Cir.
1984). Such venues cannot be opened to some and closed to others, suppressing
protected expression, absent a compelling government interest. /d. at 571.

28-72.The First Amendment does not tolerate the suppression of speech
based on what some may label an unpopular viewpoint of the speaker. John J.
Hurley and S. Boston Allied War Vets. Council v. Irish-Am. Gay, Lesbian &
Bisexual Group of Boston, 515 U.S. 557 (1995). Indeed, “above all else, the First
Amendment means that the government has no power to restrict expression because
of its message, its ideas, its subject matter, or its content.” Mosley, 408 U.S. at 95
(emphasis added); see also Ashcroft, 535 U.S. at 573.

29.73. A content-based restriction that implicates political or ideological
speech must generally survive “strict scrutiny,” where the government must show
that the law is narrowly tailored to achieve a compelling government interest. See
Reed v. Town of Gilbert, 576 U.S. 155 (2015); see also Lorillard Tobacco Co. v.
Reilly, 533 U.S. 525 (2001) (holding that tobacco marketing restrictions — even
those purposed to protecting minors -- must be the narrowest means of achieving an
asserted state interest); Brown v. Entm’t Merchs. Ass’n, 564 U.S. 786 (2011)
(overturing California law banning sale or rental of “violent video games” to
minors); see also Tracy Rifle & Pistol LLC v. Harris, 339 F. Supp. 3d 1007, 1018
(E.D. Cal. 2018) (holding that a California law prohibiting the display of a
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handgun, an imitation handgun, or a placard advertising the sale of a handgun in a
manner that is visible from the outside of a gun dealer’s premises is
unconstitutional).

30.74.Even purely commercial speech—speech that “does no more than
propose a commercial transaction” or relates solely to the economic interests of the
speaker and audience—receives First Amendment protection if it is not misleading
and concerns a lawful activity. Cent. Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Serv.
Comm’n, 447 U.S. 557 (1980).

75.  “An offer to sell firearms or ammunition™ is constitutionally protected
commercial speech. Nordyke v. Santa Clara, 110 F.3d 707, 710 (9th Cir. 2009).

Under current Ninth Circuit law, an acceptance as part of contract formation for the

purchase of firearms, ammunition, and ‘“firearm precursor” parts is not protected

commercial speech in connection with firearm sales on state-owned land. B & L

Prods., Inc., 104 F.4th 108.

76. Formation of a contract for internet sales (i.e., offer, acceptance,

consideration) i1s deemed to occur at the vendor’s permanent place of business. For

vendors of firearms, ammunition, and firearm parts, existing law makes the

physical address of the licensed dealer (not the address of the licensed gun show)

the place of contract formation and sale. Speech associated with internet sales are

protected commercial speech.

77. Internet sales, where goods are displayed and offered for sale at gun

shows held on state-owned properties, would comply with the “ban on gun sales on

state-owned property” set forth in SB 264 and SB 915 because the acceptance and

consideration for such contract formation occur at the vendors’ permanent place of

business and not at the state-owned property.

78.  Option contracts, in which the optionee accepts an offer to enter into a

contract in a manner, or at a place and time, set forth in the option contract—do not

convey title or any other rights to the underlying property to the optionee. Speech
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amend. II.

35.83.The Second Amendment protects a fundamental, individual right that
applies against both the federal government and the states. District of Columbia v.
Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 592 (2008); McDonald v. City of Chicago, 561 U.S. 742, 750
(2010).

36-84.The Supreme Court recently confirmed that Second Amendment
questions are to be analyzed in light of “text, history, tradition.” “When the Second
Amendment’s plain text covers an individual’s conduct, the Constitution
presumptively protects that conduct. The government must then justify its
regulation by demonstrating that it is consistent with the Nation’s historical
tradition of firearm regulation.” N.Y. State Rifle & Pistol Ass 'n v. Bruen, --U.S.--,
142 S. Ct. 2111, 2126 (2022) (citing Heller, 554 U.S. at 634).

37.85.The Second Amendment protects the right to possess and use arms that
are “typically possessed by law-abiding citizens for lawful purposes.” See, e.g.,
Heller, 554 U.S. at 624-25; See also Caetano v. Massachusetts, 577 U.S. 411, 136
S. Ct. 1027, 1027-28 (2016). That protection “extends, prima facie, to all
instruments that constitute bearable arms, even those that were not in existence at
the time of the founding.” Heller, 544 U.S. at 582. It also includes the ammunition
necessary to use firearms for their core lawful purposes. See Jackson v. City &
Cnty. of San Francisco, 746 F.3d at 967-68 (recognizing that “without bullets, the
right to bear arms would be meaningless.”).

86.  Finally, the Second Amendment protects the corresponding right to
obtain protected firearms and ammunition. See id. at 967 (“‘[T]he right to possess
firearms for protection implies a corresponding right’ to obtain bullets necessary to
use them.”); see also Ezell v. City of Chicago, 651 F.3d 684, 704 (7th Cir. 2011)
(holding that the right to possess firearms implies a corresponding right to access
firing ranges to train to be proficient with such firearms).

38.87.The Second Amendment thus protects sales of firearms, ammunition,
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and firearm parts through internet sales and/or option contracts, and banning the

formation of otherwise lawful internet sales contracts and/or option contracts

1mposes a “meaningful constraint” on Plaintiffs’ Second Amendment rights.

Indeed, SB 264 and SB 915, as currently interpreted and enforced, now impose a

burden and a “meaningful constraint” on the Second Amendment rights of the

individual Plaintiffs and the members of the associational Plaintiffs, by continuing

to forbid gun shows on state-owned land, even though Plaintiffs are ready, willing,

and able to consummate commercial sales offsite and away from the state-owned

properties through the use of option contracts and internet sales.
[The Fourteenth Amendment Right to Equal Protection Under the Law]
39.88.The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution,

enforceable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, provides that no state shall deny to any person
within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

40-89.Singling out speakers because of the content of their speech also
violates their fundamental rights under the Equal Protection Clause. U.S. Const.
amend. XIV.

90. Ifunequal treatment occurs in the context of exercising a fundamental
right, or the government is motivated by animus toward a disfavored group, courts
apply heightened scrutiny. See Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1, 11 (1967); see also
Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Center, Inc., 473 U.S. 432 (1985); Romer v. Evans,
517 U.S. 620 (1996). Indeed, “[b]ecause the right to engage in political expression
is fundamental to our constitutional system, statutory classifications impinging
upon that right must be narrowly tailored to serve a compelling governmental
interest.” Austin v. Mich. Chamber of Commerce, 494 U.S. 652, 666 (1990), rev’d
on other grounds, Citzs. United v. Fed. Elec. Comm’n, 558 U.S. 310, 130 S. Ct. 876
(2010).

91. The Supreme Court has also recognized that plaintiffs must be allowed

to plead and prove “equal protection claims brought by a ‘class of one,” where the
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plaintiff alleges that she has been intentionally treated differently from others

similarly situated and that there is no rational basis for the difference in treatment.”
Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562, 564 (2000). See also Sioux City Bridge Co. v.
Dakota Cnty., 260 U.S. 441 (1923); Allegheny Pittsburgh Coal Co. v. Comm’n of
Webster Cnty., 488 U.S. 336 (1989).

92. The Supreme Court has further explained that “ ‘the purpose of the

equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment is to secure every person

within the State’s jurisdiction against intentional and arbitrary discrimination,

whether occasioned by express terms of a statute or by its improper execution

through duly constituted agents.” ” Willowbrook, 528 U.S. at 564 (quoting Sioux
City Bridege Co., 260 U.S. at 445).

41-93.Plaintiffs allege, as a wholly separate theory, that aside from

differential treatment predicated on exercising their substantive rights under the

First and Second Amendments, the Defendants are engaged in an “irrational and

wholly arbitrary” demand that gun shows and firearm-related fundraising activities

be excluded from state-owned venues, motivated by the ill will of the California

legislature and Governor Newsom.

[Regulation of Gun Show Events in California]

42-94.The state of California has the most rigorous regulatory regime for
commerce in firearms and ammunition in the United States. That regulatory regime
applies to the operation of gun show events throughout California. The laws related
to the acquisition and sale of firearms are arguably stricter at gun shows than at
brick-and-mortar stores or internet sales.

43-95.0nly state-approved, licensed gun show producers may operate gun
shows in California.

44:96.All gun show producers, including Plaintiff Crossroads, must have an
individual (the “promoter”) who holds a valid Certificate of Eligibility issued by the

California Department of Justice.
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45-97.Gun show producers must also, among other things:

a.

Certify that they are familiar with all California laws regarding
gun shows, Cal. Penal Code § 27200;

Possess a minimum of $1,000,000 liability insurance, id.;
Provide an annual list of shows or events to be held to the
California Department of Justice, id.; and

Notify the California Department of Justice no later than 30
days prior to the gun show or event of any changes to the above,
id.

Make available to law enforcement a complete and accurate list
of all vendors that will participate in the show to sell, lease, or

transfer firearms. Cal. Penal Code § 27205.

46-98.Gun show producers must submit an annual event and security plan

and schedule to the California Department of Justice and any local law enforcement

agency. The plan must include:

a.

b.

o o o

)

Type of show or event;

Estimated number of vendors offering for sale or display
firearms;

Estimated number of attendees;

Number of entrances and exits at the event;

Location, dates, and times of the event;

Contact person and telephone number for both promoter and
facility;

Number of sworn peace officers employed by the producer or
facility who will be present at the event;

Number of non-sworn security personnel employed by the
producer or the facility who will be present at the event; and

Promoters must inform all prospective vendors of all California
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laws regarding gun shows.
Cal. Penal Code §§ 27210, 27215.

47.99.Gun show producers must also provide a list of all prospective vendors
and designated firearm transfer agents who are licensed firearm dealers to the
California Department of Justice no later than seven days before the event so that
the Department of Justice may determine whether each vendor possesses a valid
license and is thus eligible to participate in the event. Cal. Penal Code § 27220.

48-100. If a vendor is not approved by the California Department of
Justice or fails to comply with all applicable California laws, they cannot participate
in the gun show event. Cal. Penal Code § 27220.

49:101. If a gun show producer fails to inform all prospective vendors of
California’s state laws or fails to submit a list of all prospective vendors to the
California Department of Justice, the event cannot commence. Cal. Penal Code §
27230.

56:102. Gun show producers must have written contracts with each
vendor selling firearms at the event. Cal. Penal Code § 27235.

54+103. Gun show producers must post signs in a readily visible location
at each public entrance to the event that includes all of the following notices:

e “This gun show follows all federal, state, and local firearms and
weapons laws, without exception.”

e “Any firearm carried onto the premises by any member of the public
will be checked, cleared of any ammunition, and secured in a manner
that prevents it from being operated, and an identification tag or sticker
will be attached to the firearm before the person is allowed admittance
to the show.”

e “No member of the public under the age of 18 years shall be admitted
to the show unless accompanied by a parent, grandparent, or legal

guardian.”
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The Gun Show Act of 2000, California Penal Code sections

27200-27245, places even more restrictions on the operation of a gun show in

California by requiring that:

a.

Vendors do not display, possess, or offer for sale any firearms,
knives, or weapons for which possession or sale is prohibited;
Vendors acknowledge that they are responsible for knowing and
complying with all applicable federal, state, and local laws
dealing with the possession and transfer of firearms;

Vendors will not engage in activities that incite or encourage
hate crimes;

Vendors will process all transfers of firearms through licensed
firearms dealers as required by state law;

Vendors will verify that all firearms in their possession will be
unloaded and that the firearms will be secured in a manner that
prevents them from being operated except for brief periods,
when the mechanical condition of the firearm is being
demonstrated to prospective buyer;

Vendors provide all required information under Penal Code §
27320;

Vendors will not display or possess black powder or offer it for
sale;

Ammunition only be displayed in closed original factory boxes
or other closed containers, with the only exception for showing
the ammunition to a prospective buyer. On July 1, 2019,
additional state-law restrictions on the sale of ammunition will
become effective and gun shows must comply;

No member of the public under 18 years old may enter a gun

show unless accompanied by a parent or legal guardian;
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formation, by acceptance, of any contracts for the sale of firearms, ammunition, and

“firearm precursor parts.” That new business model will suggest to patrons and

vendors that formal acceptance must take place off the premises of the state-owned

property, through the use of internet sales portals and/or option contracts.

112. While SB 264 and SB 915 are burdensome as currently interpreted to

require that the consummation of contracts for sale (1.e., communication of

acceptance) of firearms, ammunition, and precursor parts take place away from

state-owned properties, including the Fairgrounds, Plaintiff Crossroads and its

vendors still wish to continue participating in gun shows on state-owned properties

under the new rules proposed by Crossroads. Evenwith-all- ofthe state-and federal

58.113. Defendants, however, have rejected Crossroads’ proposed new

operating rules requiring acceptance to be communicated offsite via online orders

and/or option contracts, leaving Plaintiffs unable to host gun shows involving the

display, advertising, and offers for sale of firearms, ammunition, and “firearm

precursor parts” with acceptance and delivery to take place offsite.

[The Gun Show Cultural Experience]

39-114. Gun shows are a modern bazaar—a convention of like-minded
individuals who meet in this unique public forum that has been set aside by state
and local governments for all manner of commerce. This convention-like setting is
of incalculable benefit to the gun-buying consumer and promotes public safety.

60-115. Gun shows, in general, and the Crossroads show at the
Fairgrounds, in particular, are a celebration of America’s “gun culture” that is a
natural and essential outgrowth of the constitutional rights that flow from the
Second Amendment to the United States Constitution.

61-116. Gun shows, in general, and the Crossroads show at the
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Fairgrounds, in particular, are a First Amendment forum where literature and
information are shared, speakers provide valuable lectures, classes are conducted,
political forums are held where gun rights discussions take place, and candidates for
political office can meet to discuss political issues, the government, and the
constitution with constituents who are part of the California gun culture.

62-117. Thousands of people attend gun shows on the weekends they are
held at the Fairgrounds. Many attend as new gun owners seeking information and
instruction. With over 1 million new gun owners in California in the past year, gun
shows offer the opportunity for these new gun owners to learn about firearms,
safety, and speak to expert firearm enthusiasts.

63-118. Gun shows place a huge emphasis on safety as citizens come
together. Gun shows are designed to offer a communal atmosphere of like-minded
people that one does not find in a store where people are running in to pick up one
or two items. Gun shows are designed so that people will congregate, take their
time, engage each other and the vendors, and learn in a way that they do not
otherwise engage.

64:119. Gun shows also happen to include the exchange of products and
ideas, knowledge, services, education, entertainment, and recreation related to the
lawful uses of firearms. Those lawful uses include (but are not limited to): firearm
safety training; defense of self and others; defense community, state, and nation;
hunting; target shooting; gunsmithing; admiration of guns as art; appreciation of
guns as technological artifacts; and the study of guns as historical objects.

65:120. Gun shows, in general, and the Crossroads show at the
Fairgrounds, in particular, are cultural marketplaces for those members of the “gun
culture” who attend to celebrate their constitutional rights and to pass their beliefs
in patriotism and the rights of the individual on to the next generation. It is a place
where parents take their children and grandparents take their grandchildren to share

with them, among other things, a love of historic firearms, stories of American war
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heroes, and their love of hunting.

66:121. Gun shows, in general, and the Crossroads show at the
Fairgrounds, in particular, are places where parents can learn to protect their
families and their homes, and how to stay in compliance with California’s ever-
changing gun laws.

67:122. Gun shows, in general, and the Crossroads show at the
Fairgrounds, in particular, are places where people can discuss the positions of
political candidates and whether those values line up with their own beliefs in
protecting the Second Amendment.

68-123. Gun shows, in general, and the Crossroads show at the
Fairgrounds, in particular, are held and promoted, and considerable investment is
made, precisely to promote and “normalize” the “gun culture” and the
constitutional principles that gun show participants hold dear.

69-124. This forum is vitally important especially in California where
government actors at all levels of government (federal, state, and local) are openly
hostile to the cultural values of the Second Amendment and where supporters of
those cultural values are not considered “mainstream.”

70-125. Participating in “gun culture” is an important reason people
attend Crossroads gun shows as vendors, exhibitors, customers, and guests (even if
particular vendors or attendees are not in the firearm business or in the market to
buy a gun at a particular event).

H-126. While less than 40% of vendors at Crossroads’ events offer
firearms or ammunition for sale (the remaining vendors offer accessories,
collectibles, home goods, lifestyle products, educational information, food, and
other refreshments), the principle draw of gun shows is the availability of firearms,
ammunition, and firearm parts and accessories for sale, as well as the ability to
handle and inspect firearms while in the presence of knowledgeable vendors.

72-127. Indeed, many people attend gun shows to learn about the
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report its activities to the California Department of Food & Agriculture.

76:132. Among other things, Defendant District is charged with
maintaining the Fairgrounds and ensuring that it is used for public purposes.

F7133. Defendant Ross, as the Secretary of the California Department
of Food & Agriculture, oversees the operation of the various agricultural districts in
the state, including Defendant District.

78-134. The California Department of Food & Agriculture, under
Secretary Ross, provides policies and guidance for the operation of all agricultural
districts in the state, including the use of facilities as directed by Department policy.

79-135. The California Department of Food & Agriculture maintains a
CDFA Contracts Manual for Agricultural Districts (“Manual”). Section 6.25 of the
Manual states that “[w]hether or not a fair rents out their facilities for gun shows is
a policy decision to be made by the fair board and their community.” That said,
Defendant Ross has used her position to influence fair boards’ decisions about
renting their facilities for gun show events.

80-136. Similarly, Defendant Ross, as Secretary of the California
Department of Food & Agriculture, prohibits the individual fair boards from taking
any position on legislation that would effect the ability of fair boards to make
decisions about the use of their facilities for gun shows, including her co-

defendants’ interpretation of SB 264 and SB 915 which restrict their ability to

contract to hold events where firearms, ammunition, or precursor parts are sold.
g+137. The Fairgrounds is a state-owned property maintained and
opened for use by the public. By virtue of being opened by the state for use by the
public, it is a “public forum,” from which the government may not generally
exclude expressive activity. Cinevision, 745 F.2d at 569 (quoting Perry Educ. Ass’'n
v. Perry Local Educators’ Assn, 460 U.S. 37, 45-46 (1983)).
82-138. The Fairgrounds is used by many different groups and is a major

event venue for large gatherings of people to engage in expressive activities,
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[Contracting for Use of the Fairgrounds]

8+142. Defendant District has a process, as do most of the state’s
fairgrounds, for securing returning contractors who would like to secure specific
dates into future years before the contracts can be drafted and executed.

88-143. Each year, returning and regular contractors, including Plaintiff
Crossroads, submit preferred dates for the next calendar year, so Defendant District
can confirm availability and so that Plaintiff Crossroads can begin to reserve
vendors and materials for the show weekends.

89-144. Due to the size and extensive planning that goes into producing
gun show events, Defendant District has—for decades—provided and held
preferred dates for Plaintiff Crossroads, a long-time contractor, until the contracts
can fully be executed.

90-145. Defendant District’s “hold” system essentially operates as a
right of first refusal to the benefit of returning contractors. For example, if another
contractor wanted the same preferred dates as Plaintiff Crossroads, Defendant
District would not allow another vendor to come in and take those dates from
Plaintiff Crossroads, even iftheugh there is no official contract in place yet.

91:146. The “hold” system also provides Defendant District with the
security of knowing its venue is booked with experienced and knowledgeable
repeat contractors that have a demonstrated record of running safe and profitable
events at the Fairgrounds.

92.147. The “hold” system also permits the promoter to spend
advertising dollars to promote its events, but when governments announce plans to
ban gun shows at particular venues, vendors and patrons rationally make plans to
attend gun show events at other venues or seek other states to conduct their
commerce.

93-148. Defendant District also considers the “hold” dates and shows

during budget discussions, which are typically held in the year before the contracts
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are commenced.

94-149. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs allege that the “hold”
system is widely used by similar state fair board venues and is standard industry
practice.

150. Plaintiff Crossroads, after doing business in this customary manner for
more than 30 years, had no reason to doubt that Defendant District would continue
to honor such a relationship with Plaintiff Crossroads.

[Ban on Gun Shows at Other Fairgrounds & Resulting Litigation]|

95-151. Despite the long history that Plaintiff Crossroads has had in
California, operating safe and legal events, the political environment has become
hostile toward gun show events and (more generally) toward the “gun culture” in
recent years.

96-152. Indeed, gun-show-banning activists are at work throughout the
state and the country to ban a/l/ gun shows everywhere, not because they are
“dangerous for the community,” but because they do not subscribe to the same
values as gun show promoters, vendors, and participants.

97.153. With increasing regularity, the same activists are making
appearances on Zoom board meetings held by fair boards across the state, and
during each appearance, they make the same claims in order to shut down lawful
gun shows.

98-154. These activists rely on unfounded fears about the security of gun
show events, false claims that gun shows are inherently dangerous because they
normalize the “gun culture,” and peddle in false stereotypes about the people that
attend gun shows. See City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432
(1985) (striking an ordinance requiring a special permit for a group home for the
intellectually disabled and citing direct evidence of negative attitudes toward
persons with disabilities expressed by community members and recorded in the

legislative history).
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99.155. In 2017, gun-show-banning activists using the same tactics
described above began pressuring the 22nd District Agricultural Association (“22nd
DAA”), which manages the Del Mar Fairgrounds in San Diego, to prohibit gun
show events at the Del Mar Fairgrounds. In response, the 22nd DAA began a series
of meetings and comment periods to determine whether it would continue to
contract with Plaintiff Crossroads or other gun show producers for the use of the
Del Mar Fairgrounds to host gun show events.

100-156.  The 22nd DAA also engaged in communications with other
government agencies and with Crossroads to determine whether gun shows at the
Fairgrounds were operated in full compliance with state and federal law, and if the
events pose any real danger to the community.

10+157.  On April 23, 2018, Defendant Newsom sent a letter to the 22nd
DAA, urging the Board to ban gun shows at the Fairgrounds, citing his concerns
that “[p]ermitting the sale of firearms and ammunition on state-owned property
only perpetuates America’s gun culture.” Letter from Governor Gavin Newsom to
Board Members of 22nd District Agricultural Association (April 23, 2018)
(attached as Exhibit 2).

102:158.  On September 10, 2018, Assemblymember Todd Gloria (D) sent
a letter to the 22nd DAA, stating his “firm belief that the State of California should
in no way help to facilitate the sale of firearms.” He also expressed his support for
the 22nd DAA “willingness to consider options for limiting or eliminating these
gun shows” and vowed to “act by way of legislation should the 22nd DAA Board
be unable to take meaningful action.” Letter from Assemblymember Todd Gloria to
Board Members of 22nd District Agricultural Association (Sept. 10, 2018)
(attached as Exhibit 3).

103-159. At a public hearing on September 11, 2018, a fair board ad hoc
“Contracts Committee” recommended that the 22nd DAA “not consider any

contracts with the producers of gun shows beyond December 31st, 2018, until such
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time as the [22nd DAA] has put into place a more thorough policy regarding the

conduct of gun shows.”

164:160.  In testimony before the 22nd DAA at the September 11, 2018

hearing, Patrick Kerins, who was then the Public Safety Director for the 22nd

DAA, reported on the laws that apply to gun shows in California, as well as

Plaintiff Crossroads history of events at the Fairgrounds.

165-161.  During his comments at the September 11, 2018 hearing, Mr.

Kerins referenced a memorandum that he prepared for the 22nd DAA’s Board of

Directors in 2016. In that memorandum, he reported that:

As Chief of Security for the 22nd DAA, I routinely inspect the

§un show and on a regular basis communicate with the San Diego
heriff’s Department re: compliance with all the applicable laws
and regulations and the Security Plan required by the California
Department of Justice Firearms Division. I recently spoke to
Detective Jaime Rodriguez of the Sheriff’s North Coastal Station
who supervises the four Deputies assigned to the (%un show security

detail and Detective Stacey Smith who is assigne

to the Sheriff’s

Licensing Division. Both Detectives said the Crossroads of the West
Gun Show is in complete compliance with all the local, State and
Federal laws that govern gun shows and that there have not been
any violations of law. Both Detectives had high praise for the show
promoters and the 22 DAA staff.

Memorandum of Patrick Kerins, Public Safety Director, 22nd District Agricultural

Association, to Board of Directors, 22nd District Agricultural Association, at 17
(2016) (attached as Exhibit 4).

106-162. Mr. Kerins’ 2016 memorandum continued:

In my considered opinion, as Chief of Security for the 22 DAA for
the last 17 grears, the CROSSROADS OF THE WEST GUN

SHOWS (

er year) are in compliance with all the local, state and

federal regulatory statutes and have operated without any violations
of those laws Under the laws of the State of California you must
comply with all the laws of purchasmFd, selling and/or transferring

of firearms at a gun show as you wou

at licensed gun dealer’s

store Due to the strict California %un show regulations there are no

so called loop holes that you so o

Ex.4 at 17.

ten hear about in the media.

+07:163.  Ultimately, the lengthy process of meetings, public comment,
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and communications with stakeholders resulted in no finding that allowing the
(already heavily regulated) gun show events to continue at the Del Mar Fairgrounds
posed a definite or unique risk to public safety. Indeed, the 22nd DAA presented no
evidence of any safety concerns within the community that could be linked to the
over-30-year-old gun show at the Del Mar Fairgrounds.

108-164.  Nonetheless, relying on contrived possibilities of unknown
dangers and unfounded claims that prohibiting gun shows might prevent suicide
and violent crime because the “gun culture” would be censored, the 22nd DAA
voted to impose a one-year moratorium on gun show events at the Del Mar
Fairgrounds.

109:165.  Plaintiffs Crossroads, CRPA, SAF, and others sued the 22nd
DAA, Defendant Ross, and others in federal court to enjoin the enforcement of the
moratorium, alleging violations of various constitutional rights, including the rights
to free speech, assembly, and equal protection. See B&L Prods. v. 22nd Dist. Agric.
Ass’n, 394 F. Supp. 3d 1226 (S.D. Cal. 2019) (“B&L I”’) (attached as Exhibit 5).

HO-166.  Denying the 22nd DAA’s motion to dismiss and granting
plaintiffs a preliminary injunction—sua sponte—on the ground that plaintiffs were
exceedingly likely to succeed on the merits of their constitutional claims, the court
in B&L Productions temporarily enjoined the enforcement of the 22nd DAA’s gun
show moratorium and ordered the 22nd DAA to contract with Crossroads as it
would any other similar event promoter at the Fairgrounds. /d.

H1167.  Shortly thereafter, the B&L Productions plaintiffs negotiated a
settlement with the 22nd DAA, represented by attorneys for the California
Department of Justice, permanently terminating the gun show moratorium,
reinstating Crossroads’ right to promote gun show events at the Fairgrounds, and
permanently barring the 22nd DAA from unilaterally halting B&L’s gun show
events at the Del mar Fairgrounds.

[California’s Assembly Bill 893 (Gloria)]
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H2:168.  Making good on previous threats, and fully aware of the court’s
decision in B&L I, Assemblymember Gloria introduced Assembly Bill 893 (“AB
893”) on or about February 20, 2019. Assem. Bill 893, 2019-2020 Reg. Sess. (Cal.
2019) (attached as Exhibit 6).

H3-169.  AB 893, which added section 4158 to the California Food &
Agricultural Code, bars any “officer, employee, operator, lessee, or licensee of the
[District]” from “contract[ing] for, authoriz[ing], or allow[ing] the sale of any
firearm or ammunition on the property or in the buildings that comprise the Del
Mar Fairgrounds.” Violation of the law is a misdemeanor. /d.

H4:170.  AB 893 does not bar the possession of firearms or ammunition
on the property or in the buildings that comprise the Del Mar Fairgrounds. /d.

H35-171.  The text of AB 893 expressly identifies the ongoing presence at
the Del Mar Fairgrounds of “marketplaces popularly known as ‘gun shows,’ at
which firearms and ammunition and other items are sold to the public
approximately five times a year.” Id.

H6:172.  AB 893 also clearly recognizes that “[p]romoters maintain
relationships with a core group of vendors, some selling guns and some selling
other merchandise, who travel as the schedule dictates from city to city and state to
state and in the West, for example, many of the same vendors can be seen at
Crossroads of the West Gun Shows from San Francisco, California, to Tucson,
Arizona.” Id.

H7173.  AB 893 failed to identify, however, any real public safety or
security concern specifically related to the existence of gun show events at the
Fairgrounds.

H8-174.  To be sure, AB 893 claims, without support, that “[g]un shows
bring grave danger to a community” and that “dangerous incidents” have taken
place at guns shows at the Fairgrounds, including ““an official vendor accused of

trafficking illegal firearms, sales of firearms to individuals registered in the
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Department of Justice Bureau of Firearms Armed Prohibited Persons System, and
illegal importation of large-capacity magazines.” But AB 893 makes no effort to
show that these incidents are any more likely to occur at gun shows in California,
which are regulated at least as heavily as retailers operating out of brick-and-mortar
stores.

H9-175.  Instead, AB 893’s legislative history reveals only general
concerns about gun violence occurring all over the country and legislators’ beliefs
that the state should not profit from sales of firearms and ammunition. See Matthew
Fleming, Assem. Comm. Pub. Safety, Bill Analysis Re: AB 893 (Gloria), 2019-
2020 Reg. Sess., at 3 (Cal. 2019) (attached as Exhibit 7).

126:176.  Indeed, AB 893 opens with a list of tragedies, including the
horrific mass murders that took place at Columbine High School, Sandy Hook
Elementary School, and Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School—none of which
were carried out with firearms traced to gun show events at the Fairgrounds. Ex. 6.

12H177.  What’s more, a March 26, 2019, analysis of AB 893 presented
to the Assembly Committee on Public Safety quoted claims by Assemblymember
Gloria, the bill’s sponsor, that “[t]here is an ever-apparent link between the gun
violence we see virtually every week and the number of guns in our communities.”
These statements, however, made no attempt to link gun violence to gun shows,
generally, or to gun shows at the Fairgrounds, specifically. Ex. 7 at 2.

122:178.  The Public Safety Committee’s March 26, 2019, analysis also
quoted Gloria as lamenting that “the State of California should not be profiting or
benefitting from the sale of firearms.” He continued, “[flundamentally, I believe it
1s wrong for the state of California to profit or to benefit from the sale of firearms
and ammunition.” Ex. 7 at 2.

123-179.  The Public Safety Committee’s March 26, 2019, analysis also
cited a decade-old report from the Violence Prevention Research Program (VPRP)

at the UC Davis School of Medicine, identifying gun shows as a source of illegally
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trafficked firearms. Ex. 7 at 3.

124-180.  But neither the VPRP report nor AB 893’s legislative history
links any illegally trafficked firearm or gun used in crime to gun shows at the Del
Mar Fairgrounds (or even to gun shows in California). See Garen Wintemute, MD,
Inside Gun Shows: What Goes on When Everybody Thinks Nobody’s Watching, ch.
1 (2009) (attached as Exhibit 8). This is unsurprising because, as the study states,
“[mJuch of the concern about gun shows as a source of crime guns focuses on
private party gun sales, since no background checks are conducted and no records
are kept.” Id. at 32. But such concerns are simply irrelevant in California where
private party transfers—even those initiated at gun shows—must be processed by a
licensed firearm dealer and are subject to background checks, 10-day waiting
periods, and registration under state law.

125:181.  The VPRP report cited by the Public Safety Committee’s
analysis of AB 893 also attempts to implicate licensed firearm retailers operating at
gun shows as sources of crime guns in America, claiming that “30% of dealers with
gun show sales, but 22% of all dealers, had previously had a crime gun traced to
them.” But it expressly recognizes that “in California, where both gun shows
themselves and gun commerce generally are regulated, sales at gun shows are not a
risk factor among licensed retailers for disproportionate sales of crime guns.” Ex. 8
at 33 (emphasis added).

126:182.  The Public Safety Committee’s March 26, 2019, analysis also
cited a report from the Government Accountability Office, claiming that a GAO
report “regarding gun trafficking to Mexico confirmed that many traffickers buy
guns at gun shows.” Ex. 7 at 3. But again, neither the BATFE report nor AB 893°s
legislative history links any illegally trafficked firearm to gun shows at the Del Mar
Fairgrounds (or even to gun shows in California). See U.S. Gov’t Accountability
Off., GAO-16-223, Firearms Trafficking: U.S. Efforts to Combat Firearms
Trafficking to Mexico Have Improved, but Some Collaboration Challenges Remain
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as Exhibit 11). SB 264, which added section 27575 to the California Penal Code,
bars any “officer, employee, operator, lessee, or licensee of the [District]” from
“contract[ing] for, authoriz[ing], or allow[ing] the sale of any firearm, firearm
precursor part, or ammunition on the property or in the buildings that comprise the
OC Fair and Events Center.” Violation of the law is a misdemeanor. /d.

132:188.  SB 264 does not bar the possession of firearms, ammunition, or
“firearm precursor” parts on the property or in the buildings that comprise the
Orange-Ceunty-Fairgrounds. Ex. 10. And it provides exceptions for (1) gun
buyback events held by law enforcement, (2) the sale of a firearm by a public
administrator, public conservator, or public guardian in the course of their duties,
(3) the sale of a firearm, firearm precursor part, or ammunition on state property
that occurs pursuant to a contract that was entered into before January 1, 2022, and
(4) the purchase of ammunition on state property by a law enforcement agency in
the course of its regular duties. /d.

133-189.  Like AB 893, SB 264 clearly recognizes that “[p]romoters
maintain relationships with a core group of vendors, some selling guns and some
selling other merchandise, who travel as the schedule dictates from city to city and
state to state and in the West, for example, many of the same vendors can be seen at
Crossroads of the West Gun Shows from San Francisco, California, to Tucson,
Arizona.” Id.

134-190.  SB 264 failed to identify, however, any real public safety or
security concern specifically related to the existence of gun show events at the
Fairgrounds. Indeed, without citing specific safety concerns related to the Orange

County FairgreundsFair & Event Center, the authors of SB 264 literally copied and

pasted the same vague “security concerns” related to the Del Mar Fairgrounds from
the language of AB 893 to label the Orange County events a threat to the local
community. /d.

135:191.  To be sure, SB 264 claims that “[g]Jun shows bring grave danger
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to a community” and that “dangerous incidents” have taken place at guns shows at
the Fairgrounds, including “an official vendor accused of trafficking illegal
firearms, sales of firearms to individuals registered in the Department of Justice
Bureau of Firearms Armed Prohibited Persons System, and illegal importation of
large-capacity magazines.” Id. But SB 264 makes no effort to show that these
incidents are any more likely to occur at the Orange County gun show or gun shows
in California in general, which are regulated at least as heavily as retailers operating
out of brick-and-mortar stores. What’s more, these incidents are identical to the
crimes alleged to have taken place at the Del Mar Fairgrounds—an odd coincidence
to be sure.

136:192.  Instead, SB 264’s legislative history reveals only general
concerns about gun violence occurring all over the country, unrelated to California
gun shows, and legislators’ beliefs that the state should not profit from sales of
firearms and ammunition.

137193.  Indeed, SB 264 opens with a list of tragedies, including the
horrific mass murders that took place at Columbine High School, Sandy Hook
Elementary School, and Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School-—none of which
were carried out with firearms traced to gun show events at the Fairgrounds. /d.

138:194.  The Senate Committee on Public Safety’s March 15, 2021,
analysis cited a report from the Government Accountability Office, claiming that a
GAO report “regarding gun trafficking to Mexico confirmed that many traffickers
buy guns at gun shows.” Sen. Comm. Pub. Safety, Bill Analysis Re: SB 264 (Min),
2019-2020 Reg. Sess., at 4 (Cal. 2021) (attached as Exhibit 12). But again, neither
the BATFE report nor SB 264’s legislative history links any illegally trafficked
firearm to gun shows at the Fairgrounds (or even to gun shows in California). See
Ex. 9.

139:195.  In comments to the Senate Public Safety Committee on March
16, 2021, Senator Min claimed that “SB 264 will ensure that the state is not
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reasons, but to restrict the lawful speech and activities of a culture that he does not
understand and does not support.
[California’s Senate Bill 915 (Min)]

143:199.  Having failed in 2021 to madke good on his campaign promise
to pass legislation that would ban gun shows from all state property, an undeterred
Senator Min introduced Senate Bill 915 (“SB 915”) on February 2, 2022. Sen. B.
915, 2021-2022 Reg. Sess. (Cal. 2022) (attached as Exhibit 15).

+44-200.  SB 915, which added section 27573 to the California Penal
Code, bars any ‘“‘state officer or employee, or operator, lessee, or licensee of any
state property” from “contract[ing] for, authoriz[ing], or allow[ing] the sale of any
firearm, firearm precursor part, or ammunition on state property or in the buildings
that sit on state property or property otherwise owned, leased, occupied, or operated
by the state.” Id.

145:201.  Just like SB 264, Min’s SB 915 does not bar the possession of
firearms, ammunition, or “firearm precursor parts” on state property or in the
buildings that sit on that property. /d. And it provides exceptions for (1) gun
buyback events held by law enforcement, (2) the sale of a firearm by a public
administrator, public conservator, or public guardian in the course of their duties,
(3) the sale of a firearm, firearm precursor part, or ammunition on state property
that occurs pursuant to a contract that was entered into before January 1, 2023, (4)
the purchase of ammunition on state property by a law enforcement agency in the
course of its regular duties, and (5) sale or purchase of a firearm pursuant to
subdivision (b) or (c) of Section 10334 of the Public Contract Code. /d.

146:202.  SB 915 takes-effeettook on January 1, 2023, but officials have
already-stopped entering into contracts with gun show promoters, like Plaintiff
Crossroads, for events in 2022 and beyond. And while there is an exemption

allowing events to take place if contracts for those events were entered into before

January 1, 2023, #thas-net-been-thepractice-of statemany state venues refused to
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grant-these contracts for gun show events in anticipation of the law’s effective date.

147.203.  The bill’s purpose was—and its actual effect is—to banish gun
shows from state-owned properties—properties-that are otherwise open to the
public for gathering and expressive activities—throughout California. Indeed,
Senator Min, the author of SB 915, has made very clear that banning the events was
the bill’s intent: “Last year we laid the foundation for this moment with a ban on
gun shows at the Orange County Fairgrounds. Today, I am proud to announce that
California will become the first nation to enact a total ban statewide.” Press
Release, California Becomes the First State to Ban Gun Shows on State Property,
Builds on Orange County Fairgrounds Ban (July 21, 2022), available at
https://sd37.senate.ca.gov/news/california-becomes-first-state-ban-gun-shows-state-
property-builds-orange-county-fairgrounds (last accessed Nov. 7, 2022).

148-204.  Notably, SB 915 identifies no real public safety concern related
to the existence of gun show events at any of the state venues in California. To the
contrary, when giving testimony about SB 915, Senator Min only noted issues with
criminal activity from outside of California.

149.:205.  Instead, SB 915°s legislative history reveals only general
concerns about gun violence occurring all over the country, unrelated to California
gun shows, and legislators’ beliefs that the state should not profit from sales of
firearms and ammunition.

150:206.  In describing the need for the bill, the legislative history of SB
915 cites little more than a 1999 BATFE report that identified “gun shows as a
‘major trafficking channel’” and found “that gun shows were the second largest
source of illegally trafficked firearms.” See Sen. Comm. Pub. Safety, Bill Analysis
Re: SB 915 (Min), 2021-2022 Reg. Sess., at 3 (Cal. 2022) (attached as Exhibit 16).
Setting aside the fact that the report is nearly a quarter-of-a-century old, the
legislature made no effort to link such concerns to gun shows in California, where

state law governs sales at gun shows at least as strictly as it governs sales at “brick-
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and-mortar” stores. Nor did it make any effort to show that gun shows remain “the
second largest source of illegally trafficked firearms” 23 years after the BATFE
report published its findings.

[The Impact of SB 264 and SB 915 on the Orange County Gun Show]

207. Gun shows have historically always included sales of firearms and

ammunition. Indeed, both federal regulations and California law have specific

statutory and regulatory regimes for gun sales at gun shows. And although SB 264

and SB 915 were passed to indirectly ban gun shows on state-owned properties by

banning consummated sales, the Ninth Circuit’s opinion interpreting those statutes

has left open a narrow band of commercial activity associated with firearms,

ammunition, and “firearm precursor parts’” that does not culminate in a

consummated ‘“‘sale” on state-owned land. Plaintiffs are ready and willing to

continue holding gun shows without consummated sales of firearms, ammunition,

and “firearm precursor parts” at the Fairgrounds and other state-owned venues.

Indeed, ten-day waiting periods for firearms have always been an obstacle that

vendors and buvyers have had to put up with in California’s obsessive-compulsive

drive to over-regulate the Second Amendment.

154:208. But at a bare minimum, Fthe ability to show guns and make

offers to sellsale-of firearms, and ammunition, and gun parts is still an essential

function of gun shows, and it is ene-efthe-mainstill the primary reasons people

attend these events; if gun shows are not economically viable because they have
been stripped of an essential function, they will cease to exist.

1+52:209.  SB 264 and SB 915 thus have the same practical effect as Del
Mar’s unconstitutional gun show moratorium which was enjoined by a federal

court—that is, by permanently banning all-the commercial activity (including

internet sales and option contracts) salerelating to -effirearms, ammunition, and

firearm parts at the Fairgrounds_and other state-owned venues, it has the effect of

banning gun shows at the Fairgrounds-those venues. See B&L Prods., Inc. v. 22nd
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Defendant District to request dates for events at the Fairground in 2021, 2022, and
beyond. But Defendant District refused to place the contracts for gun shows on the
agenda for October, November, or December 2021, stating instead that they would
revisit the issue again in January 2022 after SB 264 weuld-gewent into effect.

160:218.  Defendant District’s refusal to enter into contracts with Plaintiff
Crossroads before the implementation of AB 264 and SB 915 may have satisfied
Senator Min’s threats towards individual board members, but in doing so, the
District failed in itsthei-duty to bring profitable and family-friendly events to the
Fairgrounds and caused great losses to Plaintiffs.

+61219.  Plaintiff Crossroads was unable to secure dates and enter into
new contracts for events at the Fairgrounds in 2022 and beyond due to the
Defendants’ intentional act of adopting and enforcing SB 264 and SB 915 and
refusing to consider their contracts in the same way they would any other member
of the public seeking to rent the Fairgrounds venue.

+62.220.  Indeed, in compliance with SB 264 and SB 915, Defendant
District cannot and will not enter into contracts for gun shows at the Fairgrounds if
firearms, ammunition, or ‘“firearm precursor parts” will be sold during the shows.

+63-221.  Even though Plaintiff Crossroads-has offered to attempt to hold
events without sales of firearms, ammunition, or ‘“firearm precursor parts’ to
preserve its longstanding relationship with the District, mitigate damages, and
continue planning and promoting its family-friendly events until its claims can be

heardfully litigated, Defendant District dragged its feet and refused to provide dates

for events for 2022 and beyond. Plaintiffs are-were also unable to enter into new

contracts for shows at other state venues before the implementation of SB 915

because those venues also refused to provide dates before January 1, 2023.
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paid event attendance and the types and numbers of paid vendors who will do
business with Crossroads at the Orange County gun show.

169.225.  Plaintiff Crossroads has and will continue to suffer loss of
business goodwill resulting from Defendants’ adoption and enforcement of SB 264
and SB 915 under the (unsupported) pretense that gun shows, generally, and
Crossroads’ shows, in particular, threaten public safety. The message this sends to
other venues, attendees, and vendors that do business with Crossroads will no doubt
affect Crossroads for years.

+76-226.  Defendants’ adoption and enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915,
which have the intended and practical effect of banning gun shows at the
Fairgrounds and other state fairgrounds, prohibits Plaintiffs and all those similarly
situated from making use of a state-owned “public assembly facility” to host gun
show events, a lawful business activity, in violation of Plaintiffs’ rights to engage in
free speech and peaceful assembly, and their right to equal protection under the law.

+7A-227.  Specifically, Defendants’ conduct complained of here strips
Plaintiffs Clark, Johnson, and Littrell, and-Mersen, as well as the organizational
plaintiffs, CRPA, APAGOA, 2ALC, and SAF, of a vital opportunity to assemble
and engage in pure speech about, among other things, the rights and responsibilities
of gun owners, the Second Amendment, patriotism, and political activism with like-
minded individuals.

+72.228.  Defendants’ conduct complained of here also strips Plaintiff
Crossroads of the right to promote gun show events, acting as a “clearinghouse” for
both political speech and commercial speech.

+73-229.  Defendants’ conduct complained of here also strips Plaintiffs
Littrell;-and-Mersen; of a vital opportunity to assemble and engage in lawful
commercial speech, including the offer and-aceeptanece-of sales of firearms,
ammunition, and related accessories.

+74-230.  Furthermore, even if the Court grants injunctive relief, Plaintiff
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Crossroads will have incurred damages in having to devote extraordinary
advertising dollars to inform the public that gun shows will continue to be held and
have not been banned at the Fairgrounds.

175:231.  The economic and non-economic harms and injuries to Plaintiffs
are of a continuing nature; they continue to compound everyday SB 264 and SB
915 remain the law.

176 Gun Raffles & Auctions on State Property]

232. Nonprofit organizations are expressly authorized by state law to

conduct both gun raffles and gun auctions to raise funds. Cal. Penal Code § 27900.
Accordingly, many nonprofits, including Plaintiffs CRPA, RMEF., and CBH/SAA,

have conducted and/or wish to continue conducting legal raffles and/or auctions of

firearms and/or ammunition on state-owned properties as part of their fundraising

efforts.
233. On October 14, 2024, after the Ninth Circuit issued its decision in this

case, Brandi Lynn Gragg, Senior Counsel for the California Department of Food &

Agriculture, sent an email informing organizations that host raffles or auctions as

part of their fundraising efforts that they could no longer conduct raffles or auctions

of firearms, ammunition, or firearm precursory parts on state-property.

234. Ms. Gragg’s email read, in relevant part:

Under Penal Code 27573(a), effective September 25, 2024, the sale
of firearms, firearm precursor parts, and ammunition on state
property 1s prohibited. As a result, the Department of Justice has
clarified that raffles or auctions involving these items are also not
permitted on state property, including fairrgrounds where many
fundraising activities occur.

235. Defendant Bonta, as the California Attorney General, is

responsible for the Department of Justice’s current interpretation and

enforcement of Penal Code 27573(a), which bars firearm and ammunition

raffles and auctions.
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236. In California, a “raffle” is generally not considered a “sale.” Instead, it

1s a form of gambling, which is regulated by specific laws distinct from the laws

ooverning the sale of property. Defendants’ enforcement of SB 915 (codified at

Penal Code section 27573) to ban raffles of firearms, ammunition, and “firearm

precursor parts” at all state-owned properties is thus unlawful.

237. To the extent SB 915 does authorize a ban on raffles of guns,

ammunition, and “firearm precursor parts” on state properties, it prohibits truthful

commercial speech, burdens pure speech by restricting fundraising activities

necessary for nonprofits, including Plaintiffs CRPA, RMEF, and CBH/SAA., to

operate, and meaningfully restricts Second Amendment conduct.

238. As for charitable gun auctions, they too are not “sales.” Penal Code

section 27900, subsection (¢) explains that after the auction or raffle, the firearm

must be delivered back to the licensed dealer, who later conducts the “sale” or

“other transfer,” contingent upon successful completion of the backeround check,

ten-day waiting period, and all other requirements.

239. It 1s also common for nonprofits to pay a licensed dealer consideration

to reserve guns for auction in advance of their events. The dealer then holds those

firearms, and the organization conducts an auction. The winning bidder donates the

bid amount to the organization and, in return for that donation, may finalize the

transfer of the gun with the licensed dealer. In this way, no “sale” takes place at the

event. Rather, the non-profit pays consideration to reserve a gun before the event,

money 1s donated to the non-profit at or after the event, and the transfer of the gun

takes place at the dealer’s place of business at least ten days later. Defendants’

enforcement of SB 915 (codified at Penal Code section 27573) to ban auctions of

firearms, ammunition, and ‘“‘firearm precursor parts’ at all state-owned properties is

thus unlawful.

177.240. To the extent SB 915 does prohibit auctions of guns, ammunition,

and “firearm precursor parts,” it prohibits truthful commercial speech, burdens pure
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speech by restricting fundraising activities necessary for nonprofits, including

Plaintiffs CRPA RMEF, and CBH/SAA, to operate, and meaningfully restricts

Second Amendment conduct.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Right to Free Speech Under U.S. Const., amend. I
o 42 U.S.C. § 1983
(By Plaintiffs Clark, Johnson, Littrell, Mersen,-CRPA, APAGOA, 2ALC, SAF,
RMEF, and CBH/SAA Against All Defendants)

178-241.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through +78-240

of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein in their entirety.
+79.242.  The state of California owns the Fairgrounds and other public
venues throughout the state;-apublie-venue—ttis that are regularly -rented to the

public, including community-based organizations and businesses, for its use and

enjoyment, including for concerts, festivals, and industry shows.

180:243.  Plaintiffs Clark, Johnson, Littrell, Mersen; CRPA, APAGOA,
2ALC, and SAF have attended in the past and wish to again attend Crossroads gun
shows at the Fairgrounds so they may exchange ideas, information, and knowledge,
as well discuss political issues and the importance of protecting and defending the
Second Amendment.

244. Plaintiffs Clark, Johnson, Littrell, Mersen;-CRPA, APAGOA, 2ALC,
and SAF have a right under the First Amendment to use the Fairgrounds and other

state-owned public venues for their expressive activity on the same basis as other

members of the public without regard to the viewpoints they seek to express.

245. Plaintiffts CRPA, RMEF, and CBH/SSA have held in the past, and

wish to again hold in the future, raffles, auctions, and/or drawings for firearms

and/or ammunition at state-owned venues open to the public in order to raise funds

for their nonprofit purposes.

181.246. Plaintiffs CRPA, RMF, and CBH/SSA have a right under the

First Amendment to use state-owned public venues for their expressive activity,

including nonprofit, mission-driven fundraising, on the same basis as other
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members of the public without regard to the viewpoints they seek to express.

182.247.  Defendants Newsom, Bonta, and Spitzer, acting under color of
state law, are the state and local actors responsible for interpreting and enforcing
SB 264 and SB 915, which deprive Plaintiffs of free speech rights secured by the
First Amendment of the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. §
1983.

183-248.  Defendants Ross and District interpret, implement, and enforce

state laws and policies in regard to the Fairgrounds, including SB 264 and SB 915,

which deprive Plaintiffs of free speech rights secured by the First Amendment of
the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
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188-249. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct,

Plaintiffs Clark, Johnson, Littrell;:Merson, CRPA, APAGOA, 2ALC, and SAF

have suffered irreparable harm, including the violation of their constitutional right
to free speech, entitling them to declaratory and injunctive relief. Absent
intervention by this Court, through declaratory and injunctive relief, Plaintiffs will

continue to suffer this irreparable harm.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Right to Free Speech Under U.S. Const., amend. I
Mixed Political - Commercial
42 U.S.C. § 1983
(By Plaintiff Crossroads Against All Defendants)

189.250.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through +89-249
of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein in their entirety.

196:251.  The state of California owns the Fairgrounds and other public
venues throughout the state that are regularly;-apublie-venuettis- rented to the

public, including community-based organizations and businesses, for its use and

enjoyment, including for concerts, festivals, and industry shows.
194252,  Plaintiff Crossroads seeks to engage in protected speech at the

Fairgrounds, a noted “public assembly facility,” and other state-owned, public

venues through the promotion and production of events for lawful expressive
activity, including events that bring together like-minded individuals to engage in

pure political and educational speech, as well as commercial speech of vendor and

66

SECONDERST AMENDED COMPLAINT




Case 8:22-cv-01518-JWH-JDE  Document 79-2  Filed 01/16/26 Page 72 of 296 Page

O© &0 39 O »n =~ W NN =

NN N NN N N N N N M e e e e e e e
0O I O L AN WD = O O 0N NN BN W N = o

ID #:2468

individual participants to communicate offer and acceptance for the sale of legal
goods and services.

192.253.  Event promoters, though they generally promote events for
profit, “still enjoy the protections of the First Amendment.” /d. at 567. For “[t]he
role of a promoter in ensuring access to the public is at least as critical as the role of
a bookseller or theater owner and . . . is in a far better position than a concert goer
or individual performers to vindicate First Amendment rights and ensure public
access.” Id. at 568. The conduct they engage in is protected expression.

193.254.  Plaintiff Crossroads has a right under the First Amendment to
use the Fairgrounds for its expressive activity on the same basis as other members
of the public without regard to the content or viewpoint it seeks to express and
promote.

194.255. Defendants Newsom, Bonta, and Spitzer, acting under color of
state law, are the state and local actors responsible for interpreting and enforcing
SB 264 and SB 915, which deprive Plaintiffs of free speech rights secured by the
First Amendment of the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. §
1983.

195.256.  Defendants Ross and District interpret, implement, and enforce
state laws and policies in regard to the Fairgrounds, including SB 264 and SB 915,
which deprive Plaintiffs of free speech rights secured by the First Amendment of
the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

196:257.  Due to the passage of SB 264 and SB 915, Defendant District
has not and will not enter into new contracts with Plaintiff Crossroads to hold gun
show events at the Fairgrounds, even though Plaintiff Crossroads has safely and
legally held such events at the Fairgrounds for decades.

197.258.  Defendants’ enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915, which

prohibits commercial activities associated with —thesale-effirearms, ammunition,

and “firearm precursor parts” at the Fairgrounds with the purpose, intention, and
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effect of banning gun show events at the Fairgrounds and all other state-owned
properties, is an impermissible content-based restriction of speech. Such

enforcement constitutes both a-direct and indirect violations of the free speech

rights of Plaintiff Crossroads.

20— As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff
Crossroads has suffered irreparable harm, including the violation of its

constitutional right to free speech, entitling Crossroads to declaratory and injunctive
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relief. Absent intervention by this Court, through declaratory and injunctive relief,
Plaintiffs will continue to suffer this irreparable harm.

202:259.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Right to Commercial Speech Under U.S. Const., amend. I
42 U.S.C. § 1983

(By Plaintiffs Littrell-Mersen;and, CRPA, RMEF, and CBH/SSA Against All
Defendants)

203-260.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 262-259
of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein in their entirety.

204-261.  The state of California owns the Fairgrounds and other public
venues throughout the state that are regularly -a-pubhle-venuvettisrented to the

public, including community-based organizations and businesses, for its use and

enjoyment, including for concerts, festivals, and industry shows.
205:262.  Plaintiffs Littrell - Mersen;-and CRPA have attended in the past,
or represent members who have attended in the past, and wish to again attend

Crossroads gun shows at the Fairgrounds and other public venues throughout the

state to engage in lawful commercial speech with individual attendees.

263. Plaintiffs Littrell - Mersen;-and CRPA members have a right under the
First Amendment to use the Fairgrounds ferexpressive-aetivityto engage in

commercial speech on the same basis as other members of the public without regard

to the viewpoints they seek to express and promote.

264. Plaintiffts CRPA, RMEF, and CBH/SSA have held in the past, and

wish to again hold in the future, raffles, auctions, and/or drawings for firearms

and/or ammunition at state-owned venues open to the public in order to raise funds

for their nonprofit purposes.

206-265. Plaintiffs CRPA, RMF, and CBH/SSA have a right under the

First Amendment to use state-owned public venues to engage in commercial,

including nonprofit, mission-driven fundraising, on the same basis as other

69

SECONDERST AMENDED COMPLAINT




Case 8:22-cv-01518-JWH-JDE  Document 79-2  Filed 01/16/26 Page 75 of 296 Page

O© &0 39 O »n =~ W NN =

I SN S S S
W N = O

[\O NN \C T SR 2 \° I \S T | R O e e e e
~N O L A WD =, O O N N B

[\
o0

ID #:2471

members of the public without regard to the viewpoints they seek to express.

207.266.  Defendants Newsom, Bonta, and Spitzer, acting under color of
state law, are the state and local actors responsible for interpreting and enforcing
SB 264 and SB 915, which deprive Plaintiffs of free speech rights secured by the
First Amendment of the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. §
1983.

208.267.  Defendants Ross and District interpret, implement, and enforce

state laws and policies in regard to the Fairgrounds, including SB 264 and SB 915,
which deprive Plaintiffs of free speech rights secured by the First Amendment of
the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

209-268.  Defendants’ interpretation and enforcement of SB 264 and SB

915, which prohibits thesale-ef commercial speech short of an actual acceptance

related to firearms, ammunition, and “ firearm precursor parts” at the Fairgrounds
with the purpose, intention, and effect of banning gun show events at the
Fairgrounds and all other state-owned properties, is an impermissible content-based

restriction of speech. Such enforcement constitutes a direct violation of the First

Amendment commercial speech rights of the Plaintiffs.
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214:269.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct,

Plaintiffs Littrell;Mersoen; and CRPA have suffered irreparable harm, including the

violation of their constitutional right to free speech, entitling them to declaratory
and injunctive relief. Absent intervention by this Court, through declaratory and

injunctive relief, Plaintiffs will continue to suffer this irreparable harm.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Prior Restraint on Right to Free Speech Under U.S. Const., amend. I
42 U.S.C. § 1983
(By All Plaintiffs Against All Defendants)

245:270.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 244-269
of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein in their entirety.
216:271.  The First Amendment affords special protection against policies

or orders that impose a previous or prior restraint on speech. “[P]rior restraints on
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speech and publication are the most serious and least tolerable infringement on First
Amendment Rights.” Ass 'n for L.A. Deputy Sheriffs, 239 Cal. App. 4" at 811

(citing Neb. Press Ass'n, 427 U.S. at 559. A prior restraint is particularly egregious
when it falls upon the communication of news, commentary, current events,
political speech, and association. N.Y. Times Co., 403 U.S. at 715.

217272,  Prior restraint also involves the “unbridled discretion doctrine”
where a policy, or lack thereof, allows for a single person or body to act at their sole
discretion, without regard for any constitutional rights possessed by the person
upon which the action is taken, and where there is no remedy for challenging the
discretion of the decision makers. Lakewood, 486 U.S. at 757.

218:273.  The Defendants are the state and local actors responsible for

interpreting and enforcing SB 264 and SB 915, which are content-based restrictions

of speech that will have a chilling effect on Plaintiffs’ First Amendment rights, thus
acting de facto prior restraints on Plaintiffs’ rights (including a refusal to place
contract approval on board agendas or to offer available dates to begin the process
of renting the venue).

219.274.  Under SB 264 and SB 915, Defendant District has unfettered
discretion to determine what constitutes a “sale” under the law and is thereby
prohibited at the Fairgrounds. i ; ' '

2206.275.  Defendants’ policies and practices complained of here impose

an unconstitutional prior restraint because they vest the District with unbridled
discretion to permit or refuse protected expression by members of the public,
including Plaintiffs.

221.276.  Defendants’ policies and practices complained of here give

unbridled discretion to local agricultural district boards, board members, and their
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employees to decide what forms of expression members of the public may engage
in on at the Fairgrounds and to ban any other expression at the whim of those
boards and board members in violation of the First Amendment.

222.277.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct,
Plaintiffs have suffered and will continue to suffer irreparable harm, including the
violation of their constitutional right to freedom of expression, entitling them to

declaratory and injunctive relief and nominal damages.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of Right to Assembly and Association Under U.S. Const., amend. I
42 U.S.C. § 1983
(By All Plaintiffs Against All Defendants)

223.278.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 222-277
of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein in their entirety.

224.279.  The state of California owns the Fairgrounds and other public
venues throughout the state that are regularly;-apublie-venuettis rented to the

public, including community-based organizations and businesses, for its use and

enjoyment, including for concerts, festivals, and industry shows.
225.280.  Plaintiffs have promoted and/or attended in the past and wish to
again promote and/or attend Crossroads gun shows at the Fairgrounds and other

state-owned, public venues so they may assemble and associate with one another to

engage in lawful commerce, fellowship, and expressive activities, including
political and educational speech regarding the lawful ownership, possession, and
use of firearms and related products.

226-281.  Plaintiffs have a right under the First Amendment to use the

Fairgrounds_and other state-owned public venues to assemble and associate on the

same basis as other members of the public without regard to the content or
viewpoint it seeks to express and promote.
227-282. Defendants Newsom, Bonta, and Spitzer, acting under color of

state law, are the state and local actors responsible for interpreting and enforcing
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SB 264 and SB 915, which deprive Plaintiffs of free speech rights secured by the
First Amendment of the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. §
1983.

228.283.  Defendants Ross and District interpret, implement, and enforce
state laws and policies in regard to the Fairgrounds, including SB 264 and SB 915,
which deprive Plaintiffs of free speech rights secured by the First Amendment of
the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

229.284.  Defendants’ interpretation and enforcement of SB 264 and SB

915, which prohibit internet sales and option contracts related to the-sate-ef

firearms, ammunition, and “firearm precursor parts” at the Fairgrounds with the
purpose, intention, and effect of banning gun show events at the Fairgrounds and all
other state-owned properties, violates Plaintiffs’ rights to assembly and association
by denying them the right to use the Fairgrounds and all other state-owned
properties otherwise open to the public for expressive uses, “public assembly
facilities,” to assemble and engage in political and other types of expression—a

right Defendants extend to other members of the public so long as they are not

meeting for the purposes of holding a gun show event.

(15 b 99
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285. As adirect and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, all Plaintiffs
have suffered irreparable harm, including the violation of their constitutional right
to free association and assembly, entitling them to declaratory and injunctive relief.
Absent intervention by this Court, through declaratory and injunctive relief,

Plaintiffs will continue to suffer this irreparable harm.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Violation of the Right to Equal Protection Under U.S. Const., amend. XIV
42 U.S.C. § 1983
(By All Plaintiffs Against All Defendants)

232.286.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 232
285 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein in their entirety.

233.287.  Defendants, acting under color of state law, are enforcing SB
264 and SB 915, which deprive Plaintiffs of the right to equal protection under the
law secured by the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution in
violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

234.288.  On their face and as applied, SB 264 and SB 915 are
unconstitutional abridgements of Plaintiffs’ right to equal protection under the law
guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment because they are viewpoint-
discriminatory and/or animus-based restrictions on Plaintiffs’ protected speech that
serve no compelling governmental interest.

235.289.  On their face and as evidenced by the legislative history of both
AB 264 and SB 9135, it is clear that the laws’ purpose and intention are to make a
“symbolic” gesture and a “value statement” about the-otherwise lawful commercial

activity relating to sale-ef-firearms and related products and of the proliferation of

the “gun culture” in California and elsewhere.
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232. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 232-23 10of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein in their entirety.

233 Plaintiffs Clark, Johnson, Littrell, Mersen;-Crossroads, and members
and supporters of Plaintiffs CRPA, 2ALC, APAGOA, and SAF, have sold or
bought firearms, ammunition, and/or “firearm precursor parts” at gun show events
at the Fairgrounds in the past and, but for the-Defendants’ adoption, interpretation,
and-and enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915, they would do so again.

233.

234. Plaintiffs CRPA, RMEF, and CBH/SSA have held raffles, auctions,

and/or drawings for firearms and/or ammunition at state-owned venues in order to

raise funds for their nonprofit purposes in the past and, but for the adoption and

enforcement of SB 264 and SB 915. they would do so again.

235. Plaintiffs contend that they have a right, under the Second

Amendment, to buy, sell, and otherwise lawfully transact in-and-sel firearms and

the ammunition and parts necessary for the effective operation of those firearms.

236. Though the Ninth Circuit’s current interpretation of SB 264 and SB

915 compelling formal consummation of contract for sale away from state-owned

properties constitutes a burden on buyers and sellers, Plaintiffs Clark, Johnson,

Littrell, Crossroads, and members and supporters of Plaintiffs CRPA, 2ALC,

APAGOA, and SAF wish to continue attending gun shows at the Fairgrounds and

other state-owned venues and would be willing to comply with the promoter’s new

rules.

Defendants Newsom, Bonta, and Spitzer, acting under color of state

law, are the-government actors responsible for interpreting, enforcing, and

prosecuting violations of SB 264 and SB 915, which deprive Plaintiffs of their right
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to obtain aeeess-firearms and ammunition secured by the Second Amendment of the
United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

234:237.

235.238.  Defendants District and Ross interpret, implement, and enforce
state laws and policies in regard to the Fairgrounds, including SB 264 and SB 915,
which deprive Plaintiffs of their right to access firearms, ammunition, and firearm
parts secured by the Second Amendment of the United States Constitution in
violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

238.239.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, all

Plaintiffs have suffered irreparable harm, including the violation of their

constitutional right to buy, sell, and otherwise transact in -and-seH-firearms and

ammunition, entitling them to declaratory and injunctive relief. Without
intervention by this Court, through declaratory and injunctive relief, Plaintiffs will
continue to suffer this irreparable harm.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for:

1. A declaration that SB 264, codified at California Penal Code section
27575, violates the free speech rights of Plaintiffs Clark, Johnson, Littrell, Mersen;
CRPA, APAGOA, 2ALC, and-SAF, RMEF, and CBH/SSA under the First
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Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as applied;

2. A declaration that SB 915, codified at California Penal Code section
27573, violates the free speech rights of Plaintiffs Clark, Johnson, Littrell, Mersen;
CRPA, APAGOA, 2ALC, and-SAF, RMEF, and CBH/SSA under the First

Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as applied;

3. A declaration that SB 264, codified at California Penal Code section
27575, violates the free speech rights of Plaintiff Crossroads under the First
Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as applied;

4, A declaration that SB 915, codified at California Penal Code section
27573, violates the free speech rights of Plaintiff Crossroads under the First
Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as applied;

5. A declaration that SB 264, codified at California Penal Code section
27575, violates the commercial speech rights of Plaintiffs Littrell, Mersen;-and
CRPA, RMEF, and CBH/SSA under the First Amendment to the United States

Constitution, on its face and as applied;

6. A declaration that SB 915, codified at California Penal Code section
27573, violates the commercial speech rights of Plaintiffs Littrell, Mersen;-and
CRPA, RMEF, and CBH/SSA under the First Amendment to the United States

Constitution, on its face and as applied;

7. A declaration that SB 264, codified at California Penal Code section
27575, violates the free speech rights of all Plaintiffs under the First Amendment to
the United States Constitution because it imposes a prior restraint on their speech;

8. A declaration that SB 915, codified at California Penal Code section
277573, violates the free speech rights of all Plaintiffs under the First Amendment to
the United States Constitution because it imposes a prior restraint on their speech;

9. A declaration that SB 264, codified at California Penal Code section
27575, violates Plaintiffs’ rights of assembly and association under the First

Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as applied;
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10. A declaration that SB 915, codified at California Penal Code section
27573, violates Plaintiffs’ rights of assembly and association under the First
Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as applied;

11. A declaration that SB 264, codified at California Penal Code section
27575, violates the rights of all Plaintiffs to equal protection under the law per the
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as
applied;

12. A declaration that SB 915, codified at California Penal Code section
27573, violates the rights of all Plaintiffs to equal protection under the law per the
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as
applied;

13. A declaration that SB 264, codified at California Penal Code section
27575, violates the rights of all Plaintiffs to keep and bear arms under the Second
Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as applied;

14. A declaration that SB 915, codified at California Penal Code section
27573, violates the rights of all Plaintiffs to keep and bear arms under the Second
Amendment to the United States Constitution, on its face and as applied;

15. A preliminary-and-permanent injunction enjoining Defendants, their
employees, agents, successors in office, and all District Attorneys, County Counsel,
and City Attorneys holding office in the state of California, as well as their
successors in office, from enforcing SB 264, codified at California Penal Code
section 27575;

16. A preliminary-and-permanent injunction enjoining Defendants, their
employees, agents, successors in office, and all District Attorneys, County Counsel,
and City Attorneys holding office in the state of California, as well as their
successors in office, from enforcing SB 915, codified at California Penal Code
section 27573;

17.  An order for damages, including nominal damages, according to proof;
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1 18.  An award of costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees, pursuant to
2 | 42 U.S.C. § 1988 or other appropriate state or federal law; and
3 19.  Any such other relief the Court deems just and equitable.
4
5 Dated: Nevembertl; MICHEL & ASSOCIATES, P.C.
2022January 16, 2026
6 s/ Anna M. Barvir
Anna M. Barvir '
7 Counsel for Plaintiffs B&L Productions, Inc.,
California Rifle & Pistol Association,
8 Incorporated, Gerald Clark, Eric Johnson, Chad
| Littrell, Jan-StevenMersen;-Asian Pacific
9 American Gun Owner Association, Second
Amendment Law Center, Inc., Rock
10 Mountain Elk Foundation, California Bowman
1 Hunters/State Archery Association
12 | Dated: Nevember1i; LAW OFFICES OF DONALD KILMER, APC
13 2022January 16, 2026
s/ Donald Kilmer
14 Donald Kilmer
Counsel for Plaintiff Second Amendment
15 Foundation
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
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EVENT CENTE




OVERVIEW

OC Fair & Event Center is a 150-acre event venue that hosts over 150 events and

attracts approximately 4.3 million visitors annually. Our versatile multi-use property

can be transformed to fit a variety of events from small private events to large-scale AREA MAP
trade shows and festivals. Our full-service capabilities cover concessions, security,

audio/visual, on-site camping and more.

In addition to great year-round weather in sunny Southern California, we are also

conveniently located nearby numerous lodging options, restaurants, shopping, major
freeways (55 and 405) and John Wayne Airport.
AT A GLANCE ) South Coast
@ 5 Plaza @
= o
2 =
s 2
T =
Il
157,000 24+ indoor
150 acres  — sq. ft. —  and outdoor
unique event options
space John Wayne
Airport
Conventions, expos and trade shows Weddings
Corporate events and fundraisers National touring events
Private events Meetings
Seasonal events Pop-up events A
Concerts and festivals Holiday parties N

Contact sales@ocfair.com or (714) 708-1834 for inquiries or to
schedule a tour. OC Fair & Event Center is a GBAC STAR facility.
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EVENT SPACE OVERVIEW

WEST MAIN MALL

EXHIBIT HALLS —
West Main Mall East Main Mall The Hangar Tt
+ Costa Mesa Building « Anaheim Building ——
« Santa Ana Pavilion . OC Promenade HUNTINGTON BEACH SANTA ANA PAVILION COSTA MESA
tinoton B h Buildi A . L 19,572 Square Feet 16,325 Square Feet 34,025 Square Feet
* Hun Ington beac uilding * Los Alamitos BU"dlng Climate-Controlled Exhibit Hall Outdoor Covered Space Climate-Controlled Exhibit Hall
FLOOR:
INDOOR SPACES -
COSTA MESA [ E S
+ Baja Blues Bar & Restaurant 120’ x 300’ Hi-Gloss Concrete ! !
« Millennium Barn SANTA ANA PAVILION
* Plaza Pacifica Lobby 55'x 305 Concrete COSTA MESA
HUNTINGTON BEACH s
87’ x 240’ Hi-Gloss Concrete m\
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ROLL-UP ENTRY DOOR:
HUNTINGTON BEACH - 17'6” x 15’ 6”

CEILING HEIGHT:

BOOTH SPACES (10’ X 107): COSTA MESA - 16' 3" to 30' 10”
COSTA MESA SANTA ANA PAVILION - 22’ 47 t0 25'9”
SANTA ANA PAVILION HUNTINGTON BEACH - 15 to 1757

HUNTINGTON BEACH
THE COURTYARD

THE COURTYARD -19’x 10’

Options available, inquire for details.
TRADESHOW / BANQUET CAPACITY*:

ASSEMBLY*: COSTA MESA - 2,268
COSTA MESA SANTA ANA PAVILION - 1,088
Standing Space: 6,805 HUNTINGTON BEACH - 1,304
Seated Space: 4,860 THE COURTYARD - 00
SANTA ANA PAVILION TOTAL - 4,660
Standing Space: 3,265
Seated Space: 2,332 *Pending Fire Marshal approval.
HUNTINGTON BEACH
5 Standing Space: 3,914 6

Seated Space: 2,796

*Pending Fire Marshal approval.
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34,025 Square Feet

Floor: 120’ x 300’ Hi-Gloss Concrete Tradeshow / Banquet Capacity: 2,268

Ceiling Height: 16’ 3” to 30’ 10”
Rolling Entry Door: 14’ 6” x 14’
Climate Control: Y

Covered: Y

Assembly
Standing Space: 6,805
Seated Space: 4,860
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16,325 Square Feet

Floor: 55’ x 305’ Concrete Tradeshow / Banquet Capacity: 1,088

Ceiling Height: 22’ 4” to 25’ 9” Assembly

Rolling Gate Width: 15’ 6” Standing Space: 3,265
Climate Control: N Seated Space: 2,332

Covered: Y
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OVERVIEW

EAST MAIN MALL

o

ANAHEIM
12,636 Square Feet

Climate-Controlled Exhibit Hall

OC PROMENADE LOS ALAMITOS
18,035 Square Feet 16,640 Square Feet
Outdoor Covered Space Climate-Controlled Exhibit Hall

FLOOR:

ANAHEIM

70’ x 201" Hi-Gloss Concrete
OC PROMENADE

94’ x 199.5’ Concrete

LOS ALAMITOS
86.5" x 200.9" Hi-Gloss Concrete

ROLL-UP ENTRY DOOR:
ANAHEIM -12' X 14’

ROLLING GATE WIDTH:
OC PROMENADE - 16’ 6”

ROLL-UP ENTRY DOOR:
LOS ALAMITOS - 12’ x 14’

BOOTH SPACES (10’ X 10):
ANAHEIM

OC PROMENADE

LOS ALAMITOS

Options available, inquire for details.

ASSEMBLY*:
ANAHEIM

Standing Space: 2,527
Seated Space: 1,805

OC PROMENADE
Standing Space: 3,607
Seated Space: 2,576

LOS ALAMITOS
Standing Space: 3,292
Seated Space: 2,351

*Pending Fire Marshal approval.

TOTAL: 50,660 Square Feet
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TRADESHOW / BANQUET CAPACITY*:
ANAHEIM - 842

OC PROMENADE - 1,202

LOS ALAMITOS - 1,097

TOTAL - 3,141

*Pending Fire Marshal approval.
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Floor: 70’ x 201" Hi-Gloss Concrete
Ceiling Height: 16’ to 17’ 4”
Roll-Up Entry Door: 12’ x 14’
Climate Control: Y

Covered: Y
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12,636 Square Feet

Tradeshow / Banquet Capacity: 842
Assembly

Standing Space: 2,527

Seated Space: 1,805
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OC PROMENADE
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18,035 Square Feet

Floor: 94’ x 199.5’ Concrete Tradeshow / Banquet Capacity: 1,202
Ceiling Height: 24’ - 30’ Assembly

Rolling Gate: 16’ x 6” Standing Space: 3,607

Climate Control: N Seated Space: 2,576

Climate Control: Y
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LOS ALAMITOS

BUILDING
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16,640 Square Feet

Floor: 86.5’ x 200.9’ Hi-Gloss Concrete Bangquet Table/Chairs: 1,097

Ceiling Height: 14’ 10”7 to 17’ 3” Assembly

Roll-Up Entry Door: 12’ x 14” Standing Space: 3,292
Climate Control: Y Seated Space: 2,351
Covered: Y
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Case 8:22-cv-01518-JWH-JDE  Document 79-2
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Floor: 129’ x 178’ Hi-Gloss Concrete
Ceiling Height: 15 to 43’

Rolling Entry Door: 72’

Climate Control: Y

Covered: Y
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SCALE: 1"=20

Tradeshow / Banquet Capacity: 1,483
Assembly

Standing Space: 4,449

Seated Space: 3,177

Filed 01/16/26

Page 99 of 296 Page
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BAJA BLUES

BAR & RESTAURANT

31.25'

'BAJA BLUES'
BLDG

9,200 Square Feet
3,900 Square Feet (Interior) 5,300 Square Feet (Exterior)
Climate Control: Y Assembly: 240

Covered: Y Capacity (Interior): 120
Capacity (Exterior): 120

23

24



MILLENNIUM BARN
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4,413 Square Feet

Climate Control: N
Covered: Y
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PLAZA PACIFICA LOBBY

2,400 Square Feet

Climate Control: N
Covered: Y
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ACTION SPORTS ARENA

48,023 Square Feet

Building Dimensions: Track Dimensions:

East to West 37.85’ East to West 132.41
North to South 181.35’ North to South 254.76’
Total sq. ft. 6,978 Total sq. ft. 30,960
Seats: 1,888

ADA Seats: 164
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